An investigation on the influence of various biochemical tenderness factors on eight

different bovine muscles

by

Peang Abigail Hammond

B.S., Sam Houston State University, 2017

A THESIS

submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree

MASTER OF SCIENCE

Department of Animal Sciences and Industry College of Agriculture

> KANSAS STATE UNIVERSITY Manhattan, Kansas

> > 2021

Approved by:

Major Professor Dr. Michael D. Chao

Copyright

© Peang Hammond 2021.

Abstract

Tenderness is defined as the amount of force required to bite through a piece of meat. Despite its simple definition, three factors underlie the complexity of tenderness: the actomyosin, the background, and the bulk density or lubrication effects. However, past studies concluded that no single tenderness component could predict beef tenderness for all cuts. Therefore, this study's objective was to understand the relationships of biochemical tenderness components and the perception of overall tenderness of eight muscles from the forequarter and the hindquarter of beef carcasses. Longissimus thoracis (LT), pectoralis profundus (PP), supraspinatus (SS), triceps brachii (TB), gluteus medius (GM), rectus abdominus (RA), rectus femoris (RF), and semitendinosus (ST) were collected from 10 UDSA upper 2/3 choice beef carcasses and assigned to a two or 21 day aging period (n = 160). Troponin-T (TNT) degradation, desmin degradation, sarcomere length, muscle fiber cross sectional area (CSA) and diameter, collagen content, mature collagen crosslink density, intramuscular lipid content, pH, trained panel analyses, and Warner-Bratzler Shear Force (WBSF) were measured. A Pearson correlation analysis was conducted to determine the relationship between each tenderness contributor measured in this study and the overall tenderness evaluated by the trained panelist and WBSF. In addition, multivariate regression models were constructed to confirm this relationship. The results showed that muscle anatomical locations and physiological functions driven by muscle fiber types may explain some of the biochemical and/or tenderness differences found in this study. The correlation analysis showed that all of the biochemical measurements conducted (except for pH) in this study played a small but important role as an overall tenderness predictor (P < 0.01); however, each muscle has a specific tenderness factor(s) that contributed to the overall tenderness evaluated by trained panelists. For instance, tenderness for LT, TB, GM, RA, and ST

may be influenced by proteolytic degradation, while the collagen characteristics may primarily influence tenderness for PP. Also, lipid content has a significant influence on GM tenderness. Increasing the knowledge base on the various tenderness components' level of contribution will allow end-users to develop specific tenderness management strategies to ensure consistent tenderness in beef products.

Table of Contents

List of Figures	vii
List of Tables	viii
Acknowledgements	ix
Dedication	xi
Chapter 1 - Literature Review	
Introduction Proteolysis/Fnzymes	
Sancoments Length and Fiber Size	5
Sarcomere Length and Fiber Size	
Connective Tissue amount and crosslinks	
<i>Fat</i>	9
Conclusion	
Literature Cited	
Chapter 2 - An investigation on the influence of various biochem	ical tenderness factors on eight
different bovine muscles	
ADSIFACT	
Materials and Methods	22
Sample Collection	
Proteolysis Analysis	
Sarcomere Length	
Muscle Fiber CSA and Muscle Fiber Diameter	
Collagen Extraction	
Collagen Content Determination	
Crosslink Determination	
Lipid Analysis	
pH Analysis	
Trained Sensory Panel Evaluation	
Warner-Bratzler Shear Force (WBSF) Objective Tendernes	s
Statistical Analysis	
Results and Discussion	
Proteolysis Analysis	
Muscle Fiber CSA and Diameter	
Collagen Content	
Mature Collagen Crosslinks	
Lipid Content	

<i>pH</i>	
Trained Sensory Panel	
Objective Tenderness	
Correlations of Different Tenderness Factors to Overall Tenderness and WBSF.	
Multivariate regression model	50
Conclusion	
Literature Cited	53
Appendix A - Fabrication of Muscles	80

List of Figures

Figure 2-1. Representative images of Troponin-T degradation of gluteus medius, longissimus	
thoracis, pectoralis profundus, rectus abdominus, rectus femoris, semitendinosus,	78
	/0
Figure 2-2. Representative images of desmin degradation of gluteus medius, longissimus	
thoracis, pectoralis profundus, rectus abdominus, rectus femoris, semitendinosus,	
supraspinatus, triceps brachii	. 78
Figure 2-3. Representative images of immunohistochemical staining for sarcomere length	
measurements	. 78
Figure 2-4. Representative images of immunohistochemical staining for muscle fiber CSA age	ed
for 2 days (A) and 21 days (B).	. 79

List of Tables

Table 2-1. Main effect of aging time for troponin-t degradation (TNT degraded) desmin
degraded, myofibrillar tenderness, overall tenderness, and Warner-Bratzler shear force
(WBSF) of four retail beef cuts from the forequarter aged for 2 or 21 days ($n = 80$)
Table 2-2. Troponin-t degradation (TNT degraded), desmin degraded, sarcomere length, muscle
fiber cross sectional area (CSA), muscle fiber diameter, collagen content, pyridinoline
(PYD) collagen crosslink density, lipid content, and pH of four retail beef cuts from the
forequarter aged for 2 or 21 days (n=80)
Table 2-3. Main effect of aging time for troponin-t degradation (TNT degraded), muscle fiber
cross sectional area (CSA), muscle fiber diameter, collagen content, myofibrillar tenderness,
and Warner-Bratzler shear force (WBSF) of four retail beef cuts from the hindquarter aged
for 2 or 21 days (n = 80)
Table 2-4. Troponin-t degradation (TNT degraded), desmin degraded, sarcomere length, muscle
fiber cross sectional area (CSA), muscle fiber diameter, collagen content, lipid content, and
pH of four retail beef cuts from the hindquarter aged for 2 or 21 days (n=80) 69
Table 2-5. Trained panel ratings and Warner-Bratzler Shear Force (WBSF) of four retail beef
cuts from the forequarter aged for 2 or 21 days (n=80)70
Table 2-6. Trained panel ratings and Warner-Bratzler Shear Force (WBSF) of four retail beef
cuts from the hindquarter aged for 2 or 21 days (n=80)
Table 2-7. Correlation coefficient (r) of overall tenderness (trained panel) with different
tenderness components of four retail beef cuts from the forequarter
Table 2-8. Correlation coefficient (r) of Warner-Bratzler shear force with different tenderness
components of four retail beef cuts from the forequarter
Table 2-9. Correlation coefficient (r) of overall tenderness (trained panel) with different
tenderness components of four retail beef cuts from the hindquarter
Table 2-10. Correlation coefficient (r) of Warner-Bratzler shear force with different tenderness
components of four retail beef cuts from the hindquarter
Table 2-11. Correlation coefficient (r) of overall tenderness (trained panel) and Warner-Bratzler
shear force with different tenderness components of all eight retail beef cuts
Table 2-12. Regression equations and coefficients between tenderness factors and overall
tenderness evaluated by the trained panelists and Warner-Bratzler Shear Force (WBSF) for
the four retail beet cuts from the forequarter, hindquarter, and all eight cuts

.

Acknowledgements

Foremost, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my advisor Dr. Michael D. Chao, for his arduous work and input during my master's study and research. I am grateful for his immense knowledge and passion for the meat industry. Without his guidance, I would not have been able to complete this thesis.

In addition, I would like to thank the rest of my thesis committee Dr. Travis O'Quinn and Dr. Erika Geisbrecht. They have provided me with encouragement, insightful comments and helped me collect data for my research. I am grateful for the valuable experiences both of you have provided me with.

Also, I would like to thank everyone in my graduate cohort: Amelia Welter, Colin Chun, Haley Jeneske, Larissa Koulicoff, and Wanjun Wu. I could not have completed my research without your support. I am grateful for all of the laboratory skills I have gained from all of you. Meeting all of you has helped create some wonderful memories and made graduate school less stressful. I could not have asked for a better group of people to deal with my neurotic tendencies and shenanigans. I also want to thank the other graduate students in meat science. Although we did not have the same advisor, I learned a lot from everyone, especially about different facets of meat science. Not to mention, I could not have survived some of the courses without all of your support and input.

I am also incredibly thankful for Carolina Maldonado, Cody Davis, Courtney Loiselle, Emily Salgado, Khaliah Mack, Karina Lovo, Mark Bergman, and Marisol Plazas. I am grateful for your support during my academic career and for checking up on me. Although I am geographically far from all of you, I could always rely on your encouragement and support, especially even when I did not believe in myself. Also, a special thank you to Whitney Maynard.

ix

You always encouraged me to keep writing as you understand the struggles of dealing with dyslexia. Thank you for reminding me that I am more than a learning disorder and that things may take more time and effort, but that should not discourage me.

Lastly, I would like to express gratitude to my family. I am thankful for my parents' unconditional love and support. I would not have been able to get through this without them, and I am grateful that they were always there when I needed them.

Dedication

I would like to dedicate this thesis to my late brother Michael Hammond. I am heartbroken we could not share this memory together. Still, I could not have asked for a more supportive, admirable older brother.

Chapter 1 - Literature Review

Introduction

Historically, tenderness has been identified as the most critical palatability attribute for beef among consumers (Huffman et al., 1996; Egan et al., 2003), and research has shown that consumers are willing to pay more for guaranteed tenderness (Miller, 2002). The most recent national beef tenderness survey noted that the majority of cuts considered "tender" or "very tender" are from the middle meat portion of the carcass (ribeye roll, striploin, tenderloin, and top sirloin) (Martinez et al., 2017), which only account for approximately 12% of the weight of the entire beef carcass (NCBA, 2020). Unfortunately, many other cuts that reside in the other portions of the carcass, such as the round and chuck, are traditionally considered less tender and lower in quality (Anderson et al., 2012).

Tenderness is a universal term describing the amount of force required to bite through a piece of meat (Kerth, 2013). Despite this simple definition, tenderness qualifies as one of the more complex quality parameters (Kerth, 2013). The complexity lies in the three different mechanisms that account for meat tenderness: 1) the actomyosin effect or the influence of muscle fibers; 2) the background effect or the influence of connective tissue; and 3) the bulk density or lubrication effect, or the influence of intramuscular fat (Koohmaraie et al., 2002). This is further complicated as each mechanism is influenced by different biochemical components, which all contribute to the overall perception of beef tenderness. For instance, the actomyosin effect's contribution to overall tenderness depends on the extent of sarcomere shortening during rigor development and the proteolysis of muscle proteins during postmortem aging (Anderson et al., 2012). In contrast, the background effect's contribution to tenderness is mainly driven by the amount of connective tissue present and the thermal stability of the collagen crosslinks (Chun et

al., 2020; Wu et al., 2021). Finally, the bulk density effect seeks to explain the perception of tenderness that results from intramuscular fat within the muscle (Savell and Cross, 1988). By improving the knowledge base on the various mechanisms that influence tenderness, strategies can be developed to improve tenderness from cuts that have been historically merchandised as lower in value. Therefore, this literature review aims to elucidate the various biochemical components that contribute to tenderness and highlight pertinent findings.

Proteolysis/Enzymes

Past research has revealed that postmortem proteolysis of critical structural proteins in muscle fibers is the major contributor to meat tenderness (Weaver et al., 2008). Proteolysis in meat refers to the enzymatic breakdown of key cytoskeletal proteins in the Z-disk, i.e., titin, desmin, and vinculin, resulting in the structural collapse of the sarcomere, thus increasing the overall tenderness of meat during aging (Kemp et al., 2010).

Some of the major myofibrillar proteins susceptible to proteolysis are troponin-I, troponin-T (TNT), desmin, vinculin, meta-vinculin, dystrophin, nebulin, and titin (Koohmaraie and Geesink, 2006). The enzymatic breakdown of these proteins results in the degradation of three major cytoskeletal structures during postmortem proteolysis: 1) Z-line to Z-line attachments via intermediate filaments; 2) Z-line and M-line attachments to the sarcolemma through costameric proteins; and 3) the elastic filament protein titin, which also attaches to the Z-line and M-line (Koohmaraie and Geesink, 2006). Koohmaraie et al. (1995) conducted a study monitoring the detachment of Z- and M-lines from the sarcolemma during the aging process using sheep muscle. At 14 days postmortem, the Z- and M-lines were almost completely detached from the sarcolemma, with an increase in tenderness compared to the structurally intact samples. The results from this study suggested that cytoskeletal proteins such as titin and desmin are likely

determinants of meat tenderness during postmortem aging. However, many studies have also found that TNT exhibited a strong relationship between its proteolytic degradation and meat tenderness even though TNT is not cytoskeletal in nature (Penny and Dransfield, 1979; Szalata et al., 2005; Marino et al., 2013).

One of the main enzyme groups that have been studied extensively regarding postmortem aging is the calpains. These enzymes are ubiquitously found within the muscle cells. Caplains require calcium for activation, and greater calcium concentration can accelerate the activities of these enzymes (Koohmaraie et al., 1989; Wheeler et al., 1997). There are two major types of calpains, the μ -calpain, and the m-calpain, which are activated by differential calcium concentrations (Khorchid and Ikura, 2002). The µ-calpain is activated at lower concentrations (5-50 μ M), and the m-calpain is activated at higher concentrations (200-1000 μ M; Khorchid and Ikura, 2002). Considerable evidence supports calpains being the main enzyme groups responsible for proteolysis and postmortem tenderization as calpains have been shown to degrade many cytoskeletal proteins during postmortem aging (Koohmaraie et al., 1991; Huff-Lonergan et al., 1996). In an *in vitro* study, Mohrhauser et al. (2011) showed that beef samples incubated with only the proteolytic enzyme caspase-3 did not show any change in abundance of intact cytoskeletal proteins in samples. However, samples incubated with both µ-calpain and caspase-3 showed significant degradation in the samples, indicating that μ -calpain is the causative agent of postmortem proteolysis.

Many factors can impact the rate of proteolysis in meat and its ability to improve meat tenderness. Several studies have concluded that the optimal pH for μ -calpain is around 6.2 to 6.5 (Geesink and Koohmaraie, 2000; Maddock et al., 2005). Furthermore, both μ -calpain and m-calpain display lower rates of enzymatic activity in the pH range of 5.4-5.8 compared to pH 7

(Kendall et al., 1993; Geesink and Koohmaraie, 1999). The low pH values may cause conformational changes, increasing aggregation and hydrophobicity (Huff-Lonergan and Lonergan, 1999), which makes the substrate proteins less susceptible to cleavage via calpains (Huff-Lonergan and Lonergan, 2005).

In addition to pH, temperature has been known to impact the rate of proteolysis in meat. Pomponio and Ertbjerg (2012) determined the effect of temperature on calpains. They found that calpain activity increased as temperature increased. This study found a more significant amount of myofibril fragmentation during the first 24 hours of incubation at 15°C compared to samples incubated at 2°C. Similarly, White et al. (2006) compared the rate of proteolysis of pre-rigor bovine longissimus dorsi in water baths set at 5°C and 15°C for eight hours, and the samples were stored at 2°C for 21 days postmortem following the designated water bath chilling. They found the 30 kDa degraded TNT bands of the samples from the 15°C treatment to be more intense than the 5°C ones, demonstrating that temperature could be directly used to manipulate calpain activity.

In addition, prolonged exposure of meat to higher temperatures can result in a faster decline of pH and decrease sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca2+-ATPase (SERCA) activity, which would increase the concentration of free calcium ions in meat (Jeacocke, 1993; Zhang et al., 2010). Higher calcium concentrations (\geq 500µm) allow for the activation and autolysis of mcalpain (Pomponio and Ertbjerg, 2012). Interestingly, a study conducted by Doumit and Koohmaraie (1999) noted µ-calpain and m-calpain are capable of hydrolyzing calpastatin in vitro. Therefore, the increased activity of µ-calpain and m-calpain at higher temperatures may allow for the degradation of calpastatin, thereby reducing the activity of this calpain inhibitor.

Furthermore, muscle fiber types can also influence the rate of proteolysis. For instance, Muroya et al. (2010) conducted a study to evaluate the effect of muscle fiber type on postmortem protein degradation. Their results indicated a greater rate and extent of proteolysis in type IIb fibers than in type I fibers. Interestingly, although type I muscles tend to display lower proteolytic enzyme activity, they contain higher amounts of calpains. However, type I fibers also display higher amounts of calpastatin, which inhibits the proteolytic activity from the calpains. In addition, Ryu and Kim (2006) found that the percentage of type IIb fibers is negatively correlated to muscle pH. Type IIb fiber types rely more on glycolytic metabolism and utilize glucose as a substrate; therefore, these muscles have larger stores of glycogen compared to the other muscle fiber types (Kerth, 2013). Consequently, this results in an accumulation of lactate resulting in a more rapid decline in muscle pH, which, as previously mentioned, can also negatively influence proteolysis in meat.

Sarcomere Length and Fiber Size

Previous studies have found that longer sarcomere lengths have lower resistance to shear force (Wheeler and Koohmaraie, 1994; Koohmaraie et al., 1996; Grayson and Lawrence, 2013). By definition, contraction results in a shortening of the muscle fiber. Shorter, contracted fibers consequently increase the toughness of the cut due to the increased overlap of thick and thin filaments (Kerth, 2013). Battaglia et al. (2016) utilized ten beef striploins from Nellore young bulls to evaluate if sarcomere length can predict instrumental tenderness of beef at 14- and 21days postmortem. When evaluating the correlation between WBSF and sarcomere length, a strong negative correlation was found for 14 days (-0.73, P < 0.05), and a weaker but still significant correlation was found for the 21 day samples (-0.16, P < 0.05). These results indicate that as sarcomere length increases, the values for shear force decrease.

In addition to sarcomere length, muscle fiber size may also be indicative of tenderness. Past studies have found a correlation between fiber size and shear force, with meat having larger muscle fiber CSA displaying less tenderness than meat with smaller muscle fiber area (Tuma et al., 1962; Berry et al., 1971). Seideman et al. (1982) found that meat from bulls containing larger muscle fibers was less tender than meat from steers. In addition, Seideman et al. (1988) found correlations between muscle fiber size and sensory panel tenderness (r = -0.29; P < 0.01) / shear force (r = 0.36; P < 0.01). Based on their results, they speculated as the number of myofibrils per unit of mass increased, the perception of tenderness decreased, which ultimately resulted in a less satisfying experience (Seideman et al., 1988). Finally, Herring et al. (1965) studied the interrelationships of fiber diameter, sarcomere length, and tenderness of 12 bovine muscles from horizontally placed and vertically suspended carcasses, and they discovered an inverse relationship between sarcomere length and shear force values (r = -0.80; P < 0.01), a positive correlation between fiber size and shear force values (r = 0.73; P < 0.01) and an inverse relationship between sarcomere length and fiber diameter (r = -0.82; P < 0.01). They concluded that as muscle fibers shorten, sarcomere lengths decrease while muscle fiber diameters increase, thus decreasing overall meat tenderness (Herring et al., 1965).

Lastly, recent approaches have sought to explore the connection between postmortem degradation and sarcomere length as they relate to meat tenderness. In one example, England et al. (2012) examined how an increase in sarcomere length may contribute to susceptibility to postmortem proteolysis. They found that degradation of titin occurred more quickly in those bovine muscles with longer sarcomeres. This finding led to speculation that the fiber overlap caused by contracted muscles may reduce or even prevent the enzyme-substrate interactions

necessary for successful proteolysis, indicating a link between sarcomere length and proteolysis influencing tenderness (England et al., 2012).

Connective Tissue amount and crosslinks

As previously mentioned, the background effect's contribution to tenderness is mainly driven by the amount of connective tissue present and the thermal stability of the collagen crosslinks (Chun et al., 2020; Wu et al., 2021). Connective tissue serves as a scaffold for the growth and development of muscle tissue and allows for the transmission of forces generated by muscle contractions (Nishimura et al., 2002; Purslow, 2010). The amount, composition, and distribution of connective tissue provide one of the most variable phenotypic differences among muscles (Purslow, 2005; Nishimura, 2010). Connective tissues possess an extensive extracellular matrix composed of collagen, proteoglycans, and glycoproteins (Roy et al., 2015). Of the three proteins mentioned, collagen fibers are the most abundant, forming connective tissue's main constituent (Roy et al., 2015).

The functionality of muscles may explain the variation in connective tissue amounts among different muscles. For instance, muscles with locomotive functions tend to display greater amounts of collagen content than muscles with a more postural or support function (Rhee et al., 2004; Chun et al., 2020). Torrescano et al. (2003) found psoas major to have significantly less collagen content and was significantly more tender than muscles with high amount of collagen content such as flexor digitorum superficialis. Similarly, Rhee et al. (2004) found that psoas major displayed lower shear force values and collagen content than various locomotive muscles from the chuck and round.

In addition to overall collagen content, the density and type of collagen crosslinks play a role in meat tenderness. Collagen fibrils become stabilized by several posttranslational

modifications allowing the formation of intermolecular and interfibrillar collagen crosslinks (Depalle et al., 2018). Initially, immature crosslinks link two collagen molecules together; and with time, the crosslinks further react with another collagen molecule and mature into a trivalent form (Depalle et al., 2018). Therefore, younger animals tend to contain more heat-labile divalent crosslinks, whereas, in older animals, the same fibers mature into heat-stable trivalent crosslinks (Roy et al., 2015). In addition to age, studies have found that locomotive muscles tend to display more mature collagen crosslinks and less collagen solubility than postural muscles (Torrescano et al., 2003; Chun et al., 2020).

Allain et al. (1978) tested the thermostability of two thermolabile divalent crosslinks hydroxylysinorleucine (HLNL) and dihydroxylysinorleucine (DHLNL). They found that HLNL and DHLNL are completely destroyed when meat is heated to 80°C for 10 minutes. Due to their heat labile nature, divalent crosslinks are usually dismissed when collagen crosslinks are being measured (Allain et al., 1978). In contrast, pyridinoline (PYD) and Ehrlich chromogen crosslinks are examples of mature, trivalent, and thermostable crosslinks. Horgan et al. (1991) found that PYD and Ehrlich Chromogen crosslinks densities did not change, even when the meat was heated to 80°C for 45 min. Similarly, Dubost et al. (2013) conducted a study found that cooked various muscles to 55°C and found PYD remained intact. In addition, they found increased PYD density negatively affects the sensory tenderness of cooked muscles. Wu et al. (2021) further confirmed that mature collagen crosslinks' mechanical strength and thermal stability contributed to connective tissue texture and meat toughness, which negatively affected the consumers' overall liking. Lastly, it is important to note that the relationship between collagen crosslink content and meat toughness is only meaningful in meat cuts containing a high amount of connective tissue (Lepetit, 2007).

Several studies have found negative correlations between shear force and increased intramuscular fat deposition (Jones and Tatum, 1994; Wheeler et al., 1994). However, the contribution of intramuscular fat to tenderness is debated. May et al. (1992) found a negative correlation between quality grade and shear force values (r = -0.61) using Angus x Hereford steers. In addition, a positive relationship between sensory panel perception of tenderness and quality grade was also found (r = 0.51) in the same study. This finding of reduced shear force values may be attributed to the bite theory, which postulates that the occurrence of intramuscular fat lowers the mass per unit of volume in a bite-sized piece of meat (Smith and Carpenter, 1974). Ueda et al. (2007) corroborated this postulation. They found a negative correlation between fat content and shear force values (r = -0.83) in the loins of Wagyu cattle, a breed known for its high levels of marbling. In contrast, Armbruster et al. (1983) found that intramuscular fat content had a minor effect on sensory perception tenderness; however, it was noted that the meat used in this study had much lower fat content compared to the Ueda et al. (2007) study. Therefore, intramuscular fat may increase tenderness only if presented in high amounts (Smith and Carpenter, 1974).

Rather than focusing on the proximate analysis, a study conducted by Nishimura et al. (1999) focused on the influence of intramuscular fat deposition on the structure of intramuscular connective tissue. With scanning electron microscopy, they found that adipose tissue development appeared to disrupt the structure of intramuscular tissue, contributing to the tenderization of highly marbled longissimus dorsi from Japanese black cattle. In addition, they found that the increase of adipose tissue resulted in decreased shear force values. The results found in this study align with the strain theory, which states that marbling deposited in the

perivascular cells of the walls of the perimysium or endomysium disrupts the structure of connective tissues. Consequently, the structural disruption of intramuscular connective tissue from marbling decreases the width, thickness, and strength of connective tissues, rendering them more susceptible to heat penetration and solubilization (Smith and Carpenter, 1974). However, it is important to note that Nishimura et al. (1999) did not find disruptions in intramuscular connective tissue from marbling deposition in the semitendinosus muscle, a muscle known to be relatively lower in fat content than longissimus. Therefore, it is likely that the disruption of connective tissue via adipocyte deposition may only be applied to highly marbled cuts.

Finally, it has been speculated that marbling itself does not directly affect objective tenderness, but indirectly affects consumers' perception of tenderness due to the increase in the sensation of juiciness (Špehar et al., 2008). For example, Thompson (2004) examined the relationship between intramuscular fat content and consumer sensory scores, and they found curvilinear relationships between sensory scores for tenderness, juiciness, and intramuscular fat percentage. This finding aligns with the lubrication theory, which implies that intramuscular fat surrounds and lubricates the muscle fibers when heated, which the intramuscular fat will solubilize and become integrated into the meat juices, increasing juiciness and perceived tenderness (Smith and Carpenter, 1974; Jeremiah, 1996).

Conclusion

Countless studies have evaluated the impact of various individual tenderness components' contribution to meat tenderness over the past three decades. However, the overall perception of beef tenderness depends on all the tenderness components and the interaction among them; therefore, only evaluating one or two tenderness components may not provide an accurate representation. Consequently, a better understanding of the biochemical mechanisms of various

components affecting tenderness will allow end-users to develop specific tenderness management strategies to ensure consistent quality of tenderness in meat products while increasing the quality of traditionally considered lower-quality cuts. For example, aging is a common practice used in the industry to increase tenderness. Rather than freezing the meat, it is left at refrigerated temperatures for a period of time to allow naturally occurring proteolytic enzymes to break down the structural proteins in meat, resulting in a more tender meat product (Kerth, 2013). On the other hand, cuts high in connective tissue should be prepared with moist heat cookery to gelatinize collagen with mature crosslinks, creating a more tender product (Jeremiah and Gibson, 2003). Therefore, this research aims to understand better the relationships of various biochemical tenderness contributing components to the overall tenderness perception of eight different beef muscles of various anatomical locations

Literature Cited

- Allain, J., M. Le Lous, S. Bazin, A. Bailey, and A. Delaunay. 1978. Isometric tension developed during heating of collagenous tissues: Relationships with collagen cross-linking.
 Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Protein Structure 533(1):147-155.
 doi:10.1016/0005-2795(78)90558-5
- Anderson, M., S. Lonergan, C. Fedler, K. Prusa, J. Binning, and E. Huff-Lonergan. 2012. Profile of biochemical traits influencing tenderness of muscles from the beef round. Meat Sci.. 91(3):247-254. doi: 10.1016/j.meatsci.2012.01.022
- Armbruster, G., A. Nour, M. Thonney, and J. Stouffer. 1983. Changes in cooking losses and sensory attributes of Angus and Holstein beef with increasing carcass weight, marbling score or longissimus ether extract. J. Food Sci. 48(3):835-840. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2621.1983.tb14911.x
- Battaglia, C., G. Vilella, B. Sousa, C. Gomes, P. de Felicio, and S. Pflanzer. 2016. Are sarcomere length and miofibrilar fragmentation index predictors for sensory and instrumental tenderness of aged beef? Meat Sci. (112):148. doi: 10.1016/j.meatsci.2015.08.105
- Berry, B., G. Smith, and Z. Carpenter. 1971. Histological and tenderness characteristics of beef muscle as affected by carcass maturity. Tex. Agric. Exp. Stn. Prog. Rep. Consol. Prog. Rep: 72-75 doi: 10.2527/jas1970.302191x
- Calkins, C., T. Dutson, G. Smith, Z. Carpenter, and G. Davis. 1981. Relationship of fiber type composition to marbling and tenderness of bovine muscle. J. Food Sci. 46(3):708-710. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2621.1981.tb15331.x

- Chun, C., W. Wu, A. Welter, T. O'Quinn, G. Magnin-Bissel, D. Boyle, and M. Chao. 2020. A preliminary investigation of the contribution of different tenderness factors to beef loin, tri-tip and heel tenderness. Meat Sci. 170:108247. doi: 10.1016/j.meatsci.2020.108247
- Depalle, B., A. G. Duarte, I. A. Fiedler, L. Pujo-Menjouet, M. J. Buehler, and J.-P. Berteau.
 2018. The different distribution of enzymatic collagen cross-links found in adult and children bone result in different mechanical behavior of collagen. Bone doi: 110:107-114.
 10.1016/j.bone.2018.01.024
- Doumit, M., and M. Koohmaraie. 1999. Immunoblot analysis of calpastatin degradation:
 evidence for cleavage by calpain in postmortem muscle. J. Anim. Sci. 77(6):1467-1473.
 doi: 10.2527/1999.7761467x
- Dubost, A., D. Micol, B. Meunier, C. Lethias, and A. Listrat. 2013. Relationships between structural characteristics of bovine intramuscular connective tissue assessed by image analysis and collagen and proteoglycan content. Meat Sci. 93(3):378-386. doi: 10.1016/j.meatsci.2012.09.020
- Egan, A., D. Ferguson, and J. Thompson. 2001. Consumer sensory requirements for beef and their implications for the Australian beef industry. Aust. J. Exp. Agric. 41(7):855-859. doi: 10.1071/EA00065
- England, E., K. Fisher, S. Wells, D. Mohrhauser, D. Gerrard, and A. Weaver. 2012. Postmortem titin proteolysis is influenced by sarcomere length in bovine muscle. J. Anim. Sci. 90(3):989-995. doi: 10.2527/jas.2011-4278
- Geesink, G., and M. Koohmaraie. 2000. Ionic strength-induced inactivation of μ-calpain in postmortem muscle. J. Anim. Sci. 78(9):2336-2343. doi: 10.2527/2000.7892336x

- Geesink, G. H., and M. Koohmaraie. 1999. Postmortem proteolysis and calpain/calpastatin activity in callipyge and normal lamb biceps femoris during extended postmortem storage. J. Anim. Sci. 77(6):1490-1501. doi: 10.2527/1999.7761490x
- Grayson, A., and T. Lawrence. 2013. Alternative pre-rigor foreshank positioning can improve beef shoulder muscle tenderness. Meat Sci. 95(1):36-41.doi: 10.1016/j.meatsci.2013.04.010
- Herring, H., R. Cassens, and E. Rriskey. 1965. Further studies on bovine muscle tenderness as influenced by carcass position, sarcomere length, and fiber diameter. J. Food Sci.. 30(6):1049-1054. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2621.1965.tb01885.x
- Horgan, D. J., P. N. Jones, N. L. King, L. B. Kurth, and R. Kuypers. 1991. The relationship between animal age and the thermal stability and cross-link content of collagen from five goat muscles. Meat Sci. 29(3):251-262. doi: 10.1016/0309-1740(91)90054-T
- Huff-Lonergan, E., and S. M. Lonergan. 1999. Postmortem mechanisms of meat tenderization.In: Quality attributes of muscle foods. Springer, Boston, MA. p. 229-251.
- Huff-Lonergan, E., and S. M. Lonergan. 2005. Mechanisms of water-holding capacity of meat: The role of postmortem biochemical and structural changes. Meat Sci. 71(1):194-204. doi: 10.1016/j.meatsci.2005.04.022
- Huff-Lonergan, E., T. Mitsuhashi, D. D. Beekman, F. Parrish Jr, D. G. Olson, and R. M. Robson.
 1996. Proteolysis of specific muscle structural proteins by mu-calpain at low pH and
 temperature is similar to degradation in postmortem bovine muscle. J. Anim. Sci.
 74(5):993-1008. doi: 10.2527/1996.745993x

- Huffman, K., M. Miller, L. Hoover, C. Wu, H. Brittin, and C. Ramsey. 1996. Effect of beef tenderness on consumer satisfaction with steaks consumed in the home and restaurant. J. Anim. Sci. 74(1):91-97. doi: 10.2527/1996.74191x
- Jeacocke, R. E. 1993. The concentrations of free magnesium and free calcium ions both increase in skeletal muscle fibres entering rigor mortis. Meat Sci. 35(1):27-45. doi: 10.1016/0309-1740(93)90068-S
- Jeremiah, L. 1996. The influence of subcutaneous fat thickness and marbling on beef: Palatability and consumer acceptability. Int. Food Res. J. 29(5-6):513-520. doi: 10.1016/S0963-9969(96)00049-X
- Jeremiah, L., and L. Gibson. 2003. Cooking influences on the palatability of roasts from the beef hip. Food Res. Int. 36(1):1-9. doi: 10.1016/S0963-9969(02)00093-5
- Jones, S. J., A. Guru, V. Singh, B. Carpenter, C. Calkins, and D. Johnson. 2004. Bovine myology and muscle profiling. Cattlemen's Beef Board and National Cattlemen's Beef Association (Colorado, 2005), pp. cover:1-33.
- Kemp, C. M., P. L. Sensky, R. G. Bardsley, P. J. Buttery, and T. Parr. 2010. Tenderness–An enzymatic view. Meat Sci. 84(2):248-256. doi: 10.1016/j.meatsci.2009.06.008
- Kendall, T., M. Koohmaraie, J. Arbona, S. Williams, and L. Young. 1993. Effect of pH and ionic strength on bovine m-calpain and calpastatin activity. J. Anim. Sci. 71(1):96-104. doi: 10.2527/1993.71196x
- Kerth, C. R. 2013. The science of meat quality. Wiley Online Library.
- Khorchid, A., and M. Ikura. 2002. How calpain is activated by calcium. Nat. Struct. Biol. 9(4):239-241. doi: 10.1038/nsb0402-239

- Koohmaraie, M., J. Crouse, and H. Mersmann. 1989. Acceleration of postmortem tenderization in ovine carcasses through infusion of calcium chloride: Effect of concentration and ionic strength. J. Anim. Sci. 67(4):934-942. doi: 10.2527/jas1989.674934x
- Koohmaraie, M., M. Doumit, and T. Wheeler. 1996. Meat toughening does not occur when rigor shortening is prevented. J. Anim. Sci. 74(12):2935-2942.
- Koohmaraie, M., and G. Geesink. 2006. Contribution of postmortem muscle biochemistry to the delivery of consistent meat quality with particular focus on the calpain system. Meat Sci. 74(1):34-43. doi: 10.2527/1996.74122935x
- Koohmaraie, M., M. P. Kent, S. D. Shackelford, E. Veiseth, and T. L. Wheeler. 2002. Meat tenderness and muscle growth: is there any relationship? Meat Sci. 62(3):345-352. doi: 10.1016/S0309-1740(02)00127-4
- Koohmaraie, M., S. Shackelford, T. Wheeler, S. M. Lonergan, and M. Doumit. 1995. A muscle hypertrophy condition in lamb (callipyge): characterization of effects on muscle growth and meat quality traits. J. Anim. Sci. 73(12):3596-3607. doi: 10.2527/1995.73123596x
- Koohmaraie, M., G. Whipple, D. Kretchmar, J. Crouse, and H. Mersmann. 1991. Postmortem proteolysis in longissimus muscle from beef, lamb and pork carcasses. J. Anim. Sci. 69(2):617-624. doi: 10.2527/1991.692617x
- Lepetit, J. 2007. A theoretical approach of the relationships between collagen content, collagen cross-links and meat tenderness. Meat Sci. 76(1):147-159. doi: 10.1016/j.meatsci.2006.10.027
- Maddock, K., E. Huff-Lonergan, L. Rowe, and S. M. Lonergan. 2005. Effect of pH and ionic strength on μ-and m-calpain inhibition by calpastatin. J. Anim. Sci. 83(6):1370-1376. doi: 10.2527/2006.844925x

- Marino, R., M. Albenzio, A. Della Malva, A. Santillo, P. Loizzo, and A. Sevi. 2013. Proteolytic pattern of myofibrillar protein and meat tenderness as affected by breed and aging time.
 Meat Sci. 95(2):281-287. doi: 10.1016/j.meatsci.2013.04.009
- Martinez, H. A., A. N. Arnold, J. C. Brooks, C. C. Carr, K. B. Gehring, D. B. Griffin, D. S. Hale,
 G. G. Mafi, D. D. Johnson, and C. L. Lorenzen. 2017. National Beef Tenderness
 Survey—2015: Palatability and Shear Force Assessments of Retail and Foodservice Beef.
 Meat Muscle Biol doi:10.22175/mmb2017.05.0028
- May, S., H. Dolezal, D. Gill, F. Ray, and D. Buchanan. 1992. Effect of days fed, carcass grade traits, and subcutaneous fat removal on postmortem muscle characteristics and beef palatability. J. Anim. Sci. 70(2):444-453. doi: 10.2527/1992.702444x
- Miller, R. 2002. Factors affecting the quality of raw meat. In: Meat processing: improving quality. Woodhead Publishing, Cambridge, England. p. 27-63.
- Mohrhauser, D. A., K. Underwood, and A. Weaver. 2011. In vitro degradation of bovine myofibrils is caused by μ-calpain, not caspase-3. J. Anim. Sci 89(3):798-808.
 doi:10.2527/jas.2010-3149
- Muroya, S., P. Ertbjerg, L. Pomponio, and M. Christensen. 2010. Desmin and troponin T are degraded faster in type IIb muscle fibers than in type I fibers during postmortem aging of porcine muscle. Meat Sci. 86(3):764-769. doi: 10.1016/j.meatsci.2010.06.019

NCBA. 2020. Your Beef Breakdown, Explained, Beef Research Fact Sheets.

- Nishimura, T. 2010. The role of intramuscular connective tissue in meat texture. Anim. Sci. J. 81(1):21-27.
- Nishimura, T., E. Futami, A. Taneichi, T. Mori, and A. Hattori. 2002. Decorin expression during development of bovine skeletal muscle and its role in morphogenesis of the intramuscular

connective tissue. Cells Tissues Organs 171(2-3):199-214. doi: 10.1111/j.1740-0929.2009.00696.x

- Nishimura, T., A. Hattori, and K. Takahashi. 1999. Structural changes in intramuscular connective tissue during the fattening of Japanese black cattle: effect of marbling on beef tenderization. J. Anim. Sci. 77(1):93-104. doi: 10.2527/1999.77193x
- Penny, I., and E. Dransfield. 1979. Relationship between toughness and troponin T in conditioned beef. Meat Sci. 3(2):135-141. doi:10.1016/0309-1740(79)90015-9
- Pomponio, L., and P. Ertbjerg. 2012. The effect of temperature on the activity of μ-and mcalpain and calpastatin during post-mortem storage of porcine longissimus muscle. Meat Sci. 91(1):50-55. doi: 10.1016/j.meatsci.2011.12.005
- Purslow, P. P. 2005. Intramuscular connective tissue and its role in meat quality. Meat Sci. 70(3):435-447. doi: 10.1016/j.meatsci.2004.06.028
- Purslow, P. P. 2010. Muscle fascia and force transmission. J. Bodyw. Mov. Ther. 14(4):411-417. doi: 10.1016/j.jbmt.2010.01.005
- Rhee, M.-S., T. Wheeler, S. Shackelford, and M. Koohmaraie. 2004. Variation in palatability and biochemical traits within and among eleven beef muscles. J. Anim. Sci 82(2):534-550.
- Roy, B., G. Sedgewick, J. Aalhus, J. Basarab, and H. Bruce. 2015. Modification of mature nonreducible collagen cross-link concentrations in bovine m. gluteus medius and semitendinosus with steer age at slaughter, breed cross and growth promotants. Meat Sci. 110:109-117. doi: 10.2527/2004.822534x
- Ryu, Y., and B.-C. Kim. 2006. Comparison of histochemical characteristics in various pork groups categorized by postmortem metabolic rate and pork quality. J. Anim. Sci. 84(4):894-901. doi: 10.2527/2006.844894x

- Savell, J., and H. Cross. 1988. The role of fat in the palatability of beef, pork, and lamb. In: Designing foods: animal product options in the marketplace, National Academy Press, Washington DC. p. 345-355.
- Seideman, S., H. Cross, R. Oltjen, and B. Schanbacher. 1982. Utilization of the intact male for red meat production: a review. J. Anim. Sci. 55(4):826-840.
- Seideman, S., M. Koohmaraie, and J. Crouse. 1988. The Influence of Muscle Fiber Size on Tenderness in A-Maturity Heifers 1. J. Food Qual. 11(1):27-34.
- Smith, G., and Z. Carpenter. 1974. Eating quality of animal products and their fat content. In:Proc. Symposium on changing the fat content and composition of animal products.National Research Council, Washington DC, USA: Natl Academy of Sciences
- Špehar, M., D. Vincek, and S. Žgur. 2008. Beef quality: factors affecting tenderness and marbling. Livest. Sci. 62:463-478.
- Szalata, M., E. Pospiech, M. L. Greaser, A. Lyczynski, B. Grzes, and B. Mikolajczak. 2005. Titin and troponin T changes in relation to tenderness of meat from pigs of various meatiness. Pol. J. Food Nutr. Sci. 14(2):139-144.
- Thompson, J. M. 2004. The effects of marbling on flavour and juiciness scores of cooked beef, after adjusting to a constant tenderness. Aust. J. Exp. Agric. 44(7):645-652. doi: 10.1071/EA02171
- Torrescano, G., A. Sanchez-Escalante, B. Gimenez, P. Roncales, and J. A. Beltrán. 2003. Shear values of raw samples of 14 bovine muscles and their relation to muscle collagen characteristics. Meat Sci. 64(1):85-91. doi: 10.1016/s0309-1740(02)00165-1

- Tuma, H., J. Venable, P. Wuthier, and R. Henrickson. 1962. Relationship of fiber diameter to tenderness and meatiness as influenced by bovine age. J. Anim. Sci. 21(1):33-36. doi: 10.2527/jas1962.21133x
- Ueda, Y., A. Watanabe, M. Higuchi, H. Shingu, S. Kushibiki, and M. Shinoda. 2007. Effects of intramuscular fat deposition on the beef traits of Japanese Black steers (Wagyu). Anim. Sci. J. 78(2):189-194. doi: 10.1111/j.1740-0929.2007.00424.x
- Weaver, A., B. Bowker, and D. Gerrard. 2008. Sarcomere length influences postmortem proteolysis of excised bovine semitendinosus muscle. J. Anim. Sci. 86(8):1925-1932. doi: 10.2527/jas.2007-0780
- Wheeler, T., L. Cundiff, and R. Koch. 1994. Effect of marbling degree on beef palatability in Bos taurus and Bos indicus cattle. J. Anim. Sci. 72(12):3145-3151.
- Wheeler, T., and M. Koohmaraie. 1994. Prerigor and postrigor changes in tenderness of ovine longissimus muscle. J. Anim. Sci. 72(5):1232-1238. doi: 10.2527/1994.72123145x
- Wheeler, T., M. Koohmaraie, and S. Shackelford. 1997. Effect of postmortem injection time and postinjection aging time on the calcium-activated tenderization process in beef. J. Anim. Sci. 75(10):2652-2660. doi: 10.2527/1997.75102652x
- Wu, W. J., A. A. Welter, E. A. Rice, B. A. Olson, T. G. O'Quinn, E. A. Boyle, G. Magnin-Bissel,
 T. A. Houser, M. D. Chao, and T. G. O'Quinn. 2021. Biochemical Factors Affecting East
 Asian Consumers' Sensory Preferences of Six Beef Shank Cuts. Meat Muscle Biol 5(1)
 doi: 10.22175/mmb.11626
- Zhang, W., S. Xiao, E. J. Lee, and D. U. Ahn. 2010. Dietary Oxidation Affects SERCA Activity and Drip Loss in Breast Muscle of Broiler chicken. J. Agric. Food Chem. 59 (3), 969-974 doi: 10.1021/jf102918z

Chapter 2 - An investigation on the influence of various biochemical tenderness factors on eight different bovine muscles

Abstract

This study's objective was to understand the relationships of biochemical tenderness components and the perception of overall tenderness of eight muscles from the forequarter and the hindquarter of beef carcasses. Longissimus thoracis (LT), pectoralis profundus (PP), supraspinatus (SS), triceps brachii (TB), gluteus medius (GM), rectus abdominus (RA), rectus femoris (RF), and semitendinosus (ST) were collected from 10 USDA upper 2/3 Choice beef carcasses and assigned to a two- or 21-day aging period. Troponin-T (TNT) degradation, desmin degradation, sarcomere length, muscle fiber cross sectional area (CSA) and diameter, collagen content, mature collagen crosslink density, intramuscular lipid content, pH, trained sensory panel analyses, and Warner-Bratzler Shear Force (WBSF) were measured. A Pearson correlation analysis was conducted to determine the relationship between each tenderness contributor measured in this study and the overall tenderness evaluated by the trained panelist and WBSF. In addition, multivariate regression models were constructed to confirm this relationship. The results showed that muscle anatomical locations and physiological functions driven by muscle fiber types may explain some of the biochemical/tenderness differences found in this study. The correlation analysis showed that all of the biochemical measurements conducted (except for pH) in this study may play a small but important role as an overall tenderness predictor (P < 0.01); however, each muscle had a specific tenderness factor(s) that contributed to the overall tenderness evaluated by trained panelists. For instance, tenderness for LT, TB, GM, RA, and ST may be influenced by proteolytic degradation, while the collagen characteristics may primarily influence tenderness for PP. Also, lipid content has a significant influence on GM tenderness.

Increasing the knowledge base on the various tenderness components' level of contribution will allow end-users to develop specific tenderness management strategies to ensure consistent tenderness in beef products.

Key Words: Beef, Tenderness, Trained Panel, Proteolysis, Collagen, Lipid

Introduction

Historically, tenderness has been identified as the most important palatability trait (Miller et al., 1995; Huffman et al., 1996; Egan et al., 2001). Consequently, this has resulted in a large focus on tenderness research resulting in significant improvement in beef tenderness over the past 25 years (O'Quinn et al., 2018). The most recent beef tenderness survey conveyed that ~95% of the middle meat (ribeye roll, striploin, tenderloin, and top sirloin) is considered "tender" or "very tender" (Martinez et al., 2017). However, middle meat only accounts for ~ 12% of the weight of the entire beef carcass (NCBA, 2020), and many of the other cuts that reside in other portions of the carcass, such as the round and chuck, are still considered tough and lower in quality (Anderson et al., 2012). In addition, these "lower quality" beef cuts lack popularity among consumers due to the additional time and/or knowledge required to prepare these cuts properly (Pfeiffer et al., 2005).

Defined as the resistance to shear or the toughness of meat (Chandraratne et al., 2006), meat tenderness is influenced by three different basic mechanisms: 1) the actomyosin effect; 2) the background effect; and 3) the bulk density or lubrication effect (Koohmaraie et al., 2002). Past studies have shown that each of the three tenderness mechanisms is further influenced by the various biochemical components, which differed from muscle to muscle (Koohmaraie, 1992; Sullivan and Calkins, 2011; Roy et al., 2015). Chun et al. (2020) found that both tri-tip and heel are similar in the overall perception of tenderness, but the tenderness perception for tri-tip was

driven by collagen content, while the tenderness of heel was driven by proteolysis of myofibrillar proteins. Anderson et al. (2012) also concluded that observing proteolysis alone is not a good indicator for meat tenderness without knowing supporting factors such as pH, connective tissue content, sarcomere length, and muscle fiber types. These studies demonstrated that a holistic exploration of each muscle's biochemical and physical properties is necessary to fully understand the reason for deviations in tenderness that occur from muscle to muscle (Anderson et al., 2012; Chun et al., 2020). Therefore, the objective of this study is to understand the relationships of various tenderness contributing components to the overall tenderness perception of four different beef muscles from the forequarter, and four different beef muscles from the hindquarter, to expand knowledge in tenderness management strategies of lower quality beef cuts.

Materials and Methods

Sample Collection

Ten USDA upper 2/3 Choice beef carcasses at one day postmortem were selected from a Midwest beef packing plant. For the forequarter, ribeye roll (NAMP #112), brisket (NAMP #120), and shoulder clod (NAMP #114) were collected only from the left side of the carcass, while the mock tenders (NAMP #116B) were collected from both sides of the carcass. For the hindquarter, top sirloin butt (NAMP #184), knuckle (NAMP #167), and eye of round (NAMP #171C) were collected only from the left side of the carcass. The flanks (NAMP#193) were collected from both sides of the carcass. The selected cuts of beef were vacuum packaged and transported to the Kansas State University (KSU) meat laboratory. The cuts were further fabricated the following morning at two days postmortem. Each cut was initially fabricated to remove the accessory muscles not included in this study, leaving only pectoralis profundus (PP), longissimus thoracis (LT), supraspinatus (SS), and triceps brachii (TB) for the forequarter, and

gluteus medius (GM), rectus femoris (RF), rectus abdominus (RA), and semitendinosus (ST) for the hindquarter. Eight 2.54 cm steaks were cut from each muscle perpendicular to the muscle fiber direction. Steaks were vacuum packaged and assigned to one of the two aging periods: two or 21 days, and four analysis groups: Warner-Bratzler Shear Force (WBSF), trained sensory analysis, biochemical analysis, and backup. At the end of the allotted aging period, all the samples were frozen at –40°C (WBSF and trained panel samples) or -80°C (biochemical samples) until analysis.

Proteolysis Analysis

Prior to all lab analysis, steaks designated for lab analysis were cubed, frozen under liquid nitrogen and pulverized using a commercial blender (model 51BL32, Waring Commercial, Torring, CT, USA). Myofibrillar proteins were extracted according the method described by Pietrzak et al. (1997) with modifications. Pulverized meat was homogenized in ice-cold ultrapure water using a bead homogenizer (Benchmark Scientific D2400 Homogenizer; Sayreville, NJ) for 30 seconds. After homogenization, the homogenate was transferred into microcentrifuge tubes and centrifuged at 4,000 x g for five minutes. The supernatant was decanted, and the pellet was resuspended in one mL of ultrapure water. This process was repeated three times. After the third wash, the pellet was re-suspended in one mL of protein extraction buffer (0.1 M Tris-HCl, 1.25 mM EDTA, 2% SDS). Samples were centrifuged for five minutes at 4,000 x g, and the supernatant was removed and transferred to new microcentrifuge tubes. Protein concentration was determined by using a Pierce BCA Protein Assay Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA) and the protein stock was adjusted to two mg/mL using the protein extraction buffer.

Level of proteolysis was measured by troponin-T (TNT) and desmin degradation according to the method described by Chao et al. (2017) and Kondo et al. (2018) with

modifications. Protein samples were mixed 1:1 with 2x Laemmli SDS sample buffer (Alfa Aesar, Haverhill, MA) and was heated on a heat block at 95°C for five minutes. Sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS – PAGE) was conducted using an Invitrogen precast 10% tris-glycine gel (Thermo Fisher Scientific) in a Mini Gel Tank Electrophoresis System (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Five µg of the protein from each sample was loaded into the wells of the precast gel and ran for one hour at 180 V. Gel electrophoresis continued until the tracking dye reached the bottom of the gel – approximately one hour. The gel was removed from the gel assembly and transferred onto the polyvinylidene difluoride membrane (PVDF; iBlot 2 Transfer Stack), using an iBlot 2 Gel Transfer Device (Thermo Fisher Scientific) with settings of 20 V for one minute, 23V for four minutes, and 25 V for two minutes. For TNT degradation, the membrane was blocked with ten mL of 5% non-fat dry milk (NFDM) in 10 mM Tris Base, 150 mM NaCl, 0.1% Tween-20 (TBS-T) for 90 minutes at room temperature. The blot was incubated in primary antibody - anti-troponin-T IgG1 from mouse (JLT-12; Boster Bio, Pleasanton, CA) at 1:1000 dilution in 5% NFDM and TBS-T for 60 minutes. The membrane was washed three times for five minutes each using 15 mL of TBS-T and incubated in secondary antibody – a Peroxidase Conjugated Goat Anti-Mouse IgG1 (BA 1050; Boster Bio.) at 1:1,000 dilution in 5% dry milk and TBS-T for 60 minutes at room temperature. The blot was again washed three times for five minutes each with 15 mL of 1x TBS-T. Prior to imaging, the membrane was incubated in five mL of Amersham ECL Prime Western Blotting Detection Reagent (GE Healthcare; Chicago, IL) for three minutes, and an image was captured using the iBright FL1500 imager with a chemiluminescent mode (Thermo Fisher Scientific). For desmin degradation, the membrane was blocked with ten mL of One block Western-FL Blocking Buffer (Genesee Scientific; San Diego, CA) for one hour at room temperature. The blot was incubated in primary antibody – anti-desmin
from rabbit (M01948-1; Boster Bio) at 1:2,000 dilution for 60 minutes. The membrane was washed three times for five minutes each using 15 mL of TBS-T and incubated in secondary antibody – Alexa-Fluor Plus 647 goat anti-rabbit H&L; Thermo Fischer Scientific at 1:10,000 dilution for 60 minutes at room temperature. The blot was again washed three times for five minutes each with 15 mL of 1x TBS-T. An image was captured using the iBright FL1500 imager with a fluorescence mode (Thermo Fisher Scientific). The band intensities of intact TNT and desmin and degraded TNT and desmin were quantified using the iBright Analysis software, and the percent of TNT and desmin degradation was calculated by dividing the band intensities of the identified degraded bands by all the bands within the same lane.

Sarcomere Length

Sarcomere lengths were measured using the method described by Mohrhauser et al. (2011) with modifications. Approximately ten μg of pulverized sample was lightly dusted onto a microscope slide. Samples were air-dried for ten minutes. The samples were traced with a hydrophobic pen to prevent leaking and drying. After drying, the samples were incubated for 12 hours at room temperature with a monoclonal anti-α-actinin antibody (A7811 Sigma, St. Louis, MO), diluted 1:5,000 with 10% horse serum and 0.2% TritonX-100 (Thermo Fisher Scientific) in 1X PBS. After incubation with primary antibody, sections were washed with PBS three times and incubated with a secondary antibody diluted at 1:1,000 (Alexa-Fluor Plus 488 goat antimouse H&L; Thermo Fischer Scientific) in 10% horse serum and 0.2% TritonX-100 in 1X PBS for 30 minutes. Finally, samples were washed and covered with a drop of 9:1 glycerol in 1X PBS. A coverslip was placed, and samples were sealed with nail polish to prevent drying. Samples were imaged by using a Zeiss LSM700 upright confocal microscope with a 63x/1.4 oil objective. The images were captured using the Zen Black software (Zeiss, Oberkochen,

Germany), and 30 sarcomeres were measured and averaged for each sample using ImageJ (version 1.52k; National Institute of Health) using the LSM Toolbox plugins.

Muscle Fiber CSA and Muscle Fiber Diameter

A 2.54cm³ cube of muscle was collected from the geometric center of each steak for cross sectional analysis. The cubes were further fabricated to ensure the slice face is perpendicular to the muscle fiber. The fabricated cube is placed with slice face down into an embedding mold and were inundated with optimal cutting temperature tissue embedding media (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Samples were frozen in a 2-methyl butane bath cooled by liquid nitrogen. For each sample, two 10-µm cryosections were sliced using a cryostat (Microm HM 550; Thermo Fisher Scientific) and transferred to frost resistant slides (Thermo Fisher Scientific).

Cross-sectional area and diameter were measured following the method described by Phelps et al. (2016) with modifications. The cryosections were traced with a hydrophobic pen to prevent leaking during the washing and incubation. Nonspecific antigen binding sites were inhibited by blocking cryosections in 5% horse serum and 0.2% TritonX-100 in 1X PBS for 30 minutes. All sections were incubated with 1:50 anti dystrophin rabbit polyclonal (PA1–37587; Thermo Fisher Scientific) in blocking solution for 60 minutes. After primary antibody incubation, sections were washed with 1X PBS and incubated with the secondary antibody (Alexa-Fluor 594 goat anti-rabbit H&L; Thermo Fisher Scientific) at 1:1,000 in blocking solution for 30 minutes. Finally, sections were washed with 1X PBS and a small drop of 9:1 glycerol in 1X PBS was applied to the samples prior to imaging. Cryosections were imaged using a Nikon Eclipse TI-U inverted microscope with 10x working distance magnification (Nikon Instruments Inc., Melville, NY). Five representative photomicrographs per section were

captured using a Nikon DS-QiMc digital camera (Nikon Instruments Inc.) that was calibrated to the 10x objective. An average of 400 fibers per samples were analyzed for muscle fiber area and diameter for each sample using NIS-Elements Imaging Software (Basic Research, 3.3; Nikon Instruments Inc.).

Collagen Extraction

Collagen was hydrolyzed according the method described by Sims et al. (2000) with modifications. Five hundred mg of each powdered sample was placed into 15 x 125 mm glass tubes with polytetrafluoroethylene (PTFE) coated caps. Ten mL of 6N hydrochloric acid (HCl) was added to each sample and placed in a forced-air oven (Isotemp, Thermo Fisher Scientific) set for 24 hours at 115°C to hydrolyze the samples. After hydrolysis, samples were cooled to room temperature then placed in a -80°C freezer to freeze the samples. The HCl from the samples were evaporated and captured in a -84°C cold trap using a vacuum evaporator with a full vacuum setting and vortex speed set at 53% (RapidVap, Labconco). Finally, the dried samples were rehydrated with 0.5 mL of ultrapure water and were stored at -80°C until analysis.

Collagen Content Determination

Collagen content was determined by the hydroxyproline assay described by Chun et al. (2020) with modifications. Fifty μ L of the rehydrated samples were diluted 1:800 with ultrapure water, and two mL of diluted sample was transferred to 15 x 125 mm glass tubes. One mL of six mM of chloramine-t hydrate in buffer solution (140 mM citric acid monohydrate, 37.5 mM sodium hydroxide, 660 mM sodium acetate trihydrate, and 29% 1-proponal) was added to each sample following a 20 minute incubation time at room temperature. One mL of dimethylaminobenzaldehyde (DMBA) color reagent (60 mM DMBA in 21% perchloric acid, 65% two-propanol, and 14% ultrapure water) was added to each tube and placed in a water bath

set at 60°C to incubate for 90 minutes. Samples were cooled down in a cold-water bath for three minutes. Hydroxyproline concentration was determined using a spectrophotometer equipped with a microplate reader (BioTek Eon; BioTek Instruments Inc., Winooski) with wavelength set at 558 nm. A Hydroxyproline standard curve and the samples were plated in duplicates on each plate. A conversion factor of 7.14 for hydroxyproline to collagen ratio was used. Collagen content was displayed as mg of collagen per g of wet tissue.

Crosslink Determination

Collagen crosslinks were purified following the method described by Viguet-Carrin et al. (2009) with modifications. The hydrolyzed samples were diluted 1:25 using ultrapure water. Diluted sample was mixed with sample buffer (6:1 acetonitrile and acetic acid) and injected into Bond Elut Cellulose cartridge 300 mg, three mL (12102095; Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, CA) through a PrepSep 24-port solid-phase extraction vacuum manifold (Thermo Fisher Scientific). After the samples were loaded into the cartridge, the cartridge was washed four times with 2.5 mL of the wash buffer (8:1:1, acetonitrile, acetic acid, and ultrapure water). The crosslinks were eluted by loading 0.6 mL of 1% heptafluorobutyric acid (HFBA) twice. The cleaned samples were transferred into two mL amber vials (*P*/N 5188-6535, Agilent Technologies) capped with a nine mm pre-slit PTFE screw cap (*P*/N 5185-5865, Agilent Technologies).

Mature crosslinks pyridinoline (PYD) and deoxypyridinoline (DPD) were determined by an ultra-high-pressure liquid chromatography system (Acquity UPLC H-Class; Waters Corporation, Milford, MA) equipped with a degasser, quaternary pump, sample manager, and an Acquity UPLC Fluorescence Detector (Waters Corporation). A PYD/DPD standard (*P*/N 4101, Quidel Co., San Diego, CA) was used to generate a standard curve to determine the linearity

range of assays and detection limits. Briefly, the crosslinks were separated using an HSS T3 2.1 x 100 mm, 1.8 µm column (Waters Corporation). The column flow rate was 0.5 mL/min, and the column temperature was set at 60°C. Solvent A (0.2% HFBA in ultrapure water) and solvent B (100% acetonitrile) were used as a gradient solution. After a ten-minute isocratic step at 100% solvent A, PYD/DPD were eluted with 85% solvent A and 15% solvent B. The PYD and DPD were measured for fluorescence at an emission of 395 nm and excitation of 297 nm. In between each sample, 100% of Solvent B was used to rinse off the previous samples' residues, followed by 100% Solvent A to equilibrate the column. The total run time for each sample was 20 minutes. The PYD and DPD were quantified using a calibration curve by plotting the peak area ratio (crosslink area/ standard area). The concentration of PYD and DPD were multiplied by the dilution factors to get the final concentration in ppm. The molar masses of 428.44, 412.44, and 300,000 g/mol were used to calculate the levels of crosslinks in mol/mol of collagen for PYD, DPD, and collagen, respectively.

Lipid Analysis

Lipid content was quantified using the method described by Folch et al. (1957) with modifications. Glass tubes were pre-labeled and dried in a forced air oven (Isotemp, Thermo Fisher Scientific) set at 100°C for 30 minutes. The weight of the pre-labeled and pre-dried tubes was recorded. One g of powdered sample was measured into a fifty ml polypropylene conical tube. Ultrapure water (3.2 mL) and chloroform/methanol (1:1 v/v; 16 mL) was added to the sample. Samples were shaken for ten minutes using a Wrist Action Shaker (Model; 75 Burrel Corporation, Pittsburg, PA). Four mL of 0.74% KCl solution in ultrapure water was added, and samples were centrifuged at 1,000 x g for five minutes. One mL of chloroform was extracted from the bottom layer and transferred into the pre-dried 16x100 mm glass tubes. Chloroform was

evaporated using a nitrogen evaporator (REACTI-VAP III #TS-18826, Thermo Fisher Scientific). Test tubes were transferred back into the oven set to 100°C for 30 minutes to evaporate any potential moisture picked up from the surrounding air. Percent lipid was calculated by dividing the calculated lipid weight (difference of final weight and glass tube) over the sample weight.

pH Analysis

The pH analysis was conducted by weighing out five g of pulverized muscle sample into 100 mL beakers. Fifty mL of ultrapure water added to each sample and homogenized for 20 seconds at 10,000 rpm using a bench top homogenizer with a medium probe (Homogenizer 850, Thermo Fisher Scientific). An InLab Science Pro-ISM probe connected to a Seven Compact pH meter (Meter Toledo; Columbus, OH) was calibrated using a pH 4.0 and 7.00 standard solution prior to pH measurement. The ultimate pH of each sample was measured by placing the probe into sample homogenate under constant stirring using a magnetic stirrer.

Trained Sensory Panel Evaluation

Sensory panelists were trained according to the American Meat Sci. Association (AMSA) sensory guidelines (AMSA, 2015) using scale anchors previously described by Vierck et al. (2018) and Lucherk et al. (2016). Sensory panelists were trained six times over a two-weeks period prior to evaluating myofibril tenderness, connective tissue amount, lipid flavor intensity, and overall tenderness from various muscles (biceps femoris, longissimus dorsi, semitendinosus, and psoas major). Twenty panels were conducted with eight samples per session served in a random order to seven to eight panelists. Sensory panel steaks were cooked according to procedures described for WBSF analysis. Steaks were cubed into 1.27 by 1.27 by 2.54 cm pieces. Two cubes of steak were served to each panelist along with deionized water, apple slices,

and unsalted crackers to serve as palate cleansers between samples. At the beginning of each session, a warmup sample was provided before each panel to allow for the panelists to calibrate. Panelists evaluated samples in individual booths under a low intensity red incandescent light (<107.64 lumens) to avoid visual bias. Panelists evaluated samples on continuous line scales using a digital survey (Qualtrics Software, Provo, UT) on electric tablets (Model TB-8505F; Lenovo, Quarry Bay, Hong Kong). Each scale was anchored at both end and midpoints with the descriptive terms (0 = extremely tough/none/bland, 50 = neither tough nor tender, 100 = extremely tender/abundant/intense).

Warner-Bratzler Shear Force (WBSF) Objective Tenderness

Objective tenderness was measured with WBSF. Procedures were conducted according to the American Meat Sci. Association (AMSA) Meat Cookery and Sensory Guidelines (AMSA, 2015). All WBSF steak samples were thawed at 4°C for 24 hours and grilled on a Cuisine Art Griddle Deluxe Clamshell (Cuisine Art; Stamford, CT) to an internal temperature of 71°C (medium). The internal temperature was monitored with a Thermapen MK4 thermometer (Thermoworks; American Fork, Utah) by inserting the thermometer into the geometric center of each steak. Once cooking was completed, the samples were covered with plastic wrap and refrigerated at 4°C to cool overnight. Six 1.27 cm cores were drilled parallel to the muscle fibers from each steak. Each core was sheared once through the center, perpendicular to the muscle fibers at 250 mm/min using an Instron testing machine (Model 5569; Instron, Norwood, MA) with a WBSF blade attachment (G-R Elec. Mfg., Manhattan, KS). The mean shear force (kgf) values of the six cores were calculated for each steak.

Statistical Analysis

All data were analyzed as a split-plot using PROC GLIMMIX of SAS (version 9.4, Cary, NC). The model included the whole-plot factor of meat cut, the sub-plot factors of aging time, and the cut \times aging time interaction. For all analyses, Satterthwaite approximation was used to estimate the degrees of freedom. Differences among means were detected at the 5% level using the least significant difference. The PROC CORR procedure of SAS was used to determine Pearson's correlation coefficients between all tenderness contributors measured in this study to the overall tenderness evaluated by the trained panelists. The correlation analysis was determined among the variables for each muscle individually. Furthermore, a correlation analysis was conducted across all four muscles from the forequarter, all four muscles from the hindquarter, and all eight muscles together. Finally, multivariate regression models were constructed using PROC REG and the stepwise selection procedure, with variable required to be significant (P < 0.05) to enter the model and remain in the final model to determine the significance of chemical factors influencing the overall tenderness and WBSF for the four muscles in the forequarter, the four muscles in the hindquarter, and all eight muscles in the forequarter of the four muscles in the forequarter, the four muscles in the hindquarter, and all eight muscles combined.

Results and Discussion

Proteolysis Analysis

Representative images of immunoblot from each muscle for TNT and desmin are shown in figure 2-1 and 2-2 respectively. No muscle x aging interaction was found for either TNT or desmin degradation for the forequarter muscles (P > 0.10). However, there was an aging effect (P < 0.01; Table 2-1) and a muscle effect (P < 0.05; Table 2-2) for TNT and desmin degradation for the forequarter muscles. LT and SS displayed the largest amounts of degradation for TNT, and PP displayed the lowest amount of TNT degradation (P < 0.05), while TB did not differ

from any muscle (P > 0.10). Desmin degradation followed a similar trend, with LT displaying the highest desmin degradation (P < 0.05), while the other three muscles did not differ from one another (P > 0.10). Similarly, the hindquarter muscles did not display a muscle x aging interaction for TNT degradation (P > 0.10), but displayed an aging effect (P < 0.01; Table 2-3) and a muscle effect (P < 0.01; Table 2-4) for TNT degradation for the hindquarter muscles. RF had the highest amount of TNT degradation, while RA and ST displayed the lowest amounts of TNT degradation (P < 0.05), and GM did not differ from any muscle (P > 0.10). On the other hand, a muscle x aging interaction for the hindquarter muscles for desmin degradation (P < 0.01; Table 2-4). All retail cuts studied increased in desmin degradation from two to 21 days of postmortem storage (P < 0.05), except for RA (P > 0.10). At both two and 21 days postmortem, RF, ST, and GM all displayed a greater amount of desmin degradation compared to RA (P < 0.05).

It is well established that proteolysis of key proteins can dictate the development of tenderness during postmortem storage; therefore, it was expected to see an increase in myofibrillar protein degradation as aging time progressed (Koohmaraie, 1992; Anderson et al., 2012). The results for the degradation pattern of TNT and desmin for LT, TB, SS, GM and ST are largely in agreement with the degradation pattern from other studies (Rhee et al., 2004; Cruzen et al., 2014; Phelps et al., 2016; Vierck et al., 2020). Unfortunately, however, no proteolysis data of TNT and desmin could be found for PP, RA and RF. It is well established that muscle fiber types strongly influence the rate of postmortem aging, and muscles with greater relative percentages of glycolytic muscle fibers are more susceptible to early postmortem proteolytic degradation than muscles with greater percentage of oxidative muscle fibers (Muroya et al., 2010; Xiong, 2014). Although we did not conduct muscle fiber typing in this study, the

proteolysis data from this study followed closely with the above discussed trend based on the muscle fiber types data reported by Kirchofer et al. (2002) and Oury et al. (2010), who reported PP, SS, and TB all contain a relatively higher percentage of oxidative muscle fibers than LT for the forequarter muscles, and RA contains a relatively higher percentage of oxidative muscle fibers than the rest of the muscles in the hindquarter portion of the study. This can be explained by muscles that contain more glycolytic muscle fibers have greater glycogen stores than those containing more oxidative muscle fibers consequently, resulting in a more rapid decline of muscle pH during rigor mortis (Huff-Lonergan and Lonergan, 2005). A rapid decline of pH during rigor mortis can decrease sarco/endoplasmic reticulum calcium transport ATPase activity, increasing the concentration of free calcium ions (\geq 500 µM) in meat (Jeacocke, 1993; Zhang et al., 2010), allowing for the early activation and autolysis of m-calpain (Pomponio and Ertbjerg, 2012). Lastly, oxidative fibers tend to display higher levels of calpastatin, a known inhibitor of the calpains (Ouali and Talmant, 1990; Koohmaraie, 1992), which could also play a role in the differences in the level of proteolysis among the muscles examined.

Sarcomere Length

A representative image of an immunohistochemically stained muscle fiber depicting individual sarcomeres is shown in figure 2-3. There was no muscle x aging interaction found for sarcomere length (P > 0.10), but there was a muscle effect for both forequarter and hindquarter muscles (P < 0.01; Table 2-2 and 2-4, respectively). For the forequarter muscles, PP displayed the longest sarcomere lengths, followed by TB, SS, with LT displaying the shortest sarcomere length (P < 0.05). For the hindquarter muscles, RA displayed the longest sarcomere lengths, followed by ST, then RF, with GM displaying the shortest sarcomere lengths (P < 0.01).

However, the sarcomere lengths for PP and RA in these analyses were longer than those reported by Grayson and Lawrence (2013) and Lee et al. (2017), respectively.

Most of the results from this study are similar to the sarcomere lengths from the 11 beef muscles reported by Rhee et al. (2004). However, the sarcomere lengths for PP and RA found in this study were longer than those reported by Grayson and Lawrence (2013) and Lee et al. (2017), respectively. Kobayashi et al. (2000) found that oxidative muscle fibers can reach rigor mortis much faster than glycolytic muscle fibers due to reduced amounts of glycogen/ATP content, resulting in muscles containing mainly oxidative muscle fibers displaying longer sarcomeres than muscles containing mainly glycolytic muscle fibers. In addition to the influence from muscle fiber types, the ultimate sarcomere lengths of different muscles from beef carcasses are further affected by how beef carcasses are typically hung, which is by the Achilles tendon. This hanging method results in stretching muscles in the round and shortening muscles in the loin (Herring et al., 1965). Finally, it is important to point out all of the referenced studies utilized the laser diffraction method described by Cross et al. (1981) for sarcomere length measurement, while we utilized an improved immunohistochemical method in this study. Perhaps, besides animal and experimental condition differences, measurement technique differences may also contribute to this slight deviation in sarcomere lengths from study to study.

Muscle Fiber CSA and Diameter

A representative image of immunohistochemically stained muscle fiber CSA is shown in figure 2-4. There was no muscle x aging interaction found for muscle fiber CSA or muscle fiber diameter for the forequarter or hindquarter muscles (P > 0.10; Table 2-2 and 2-4, respectively). Also, there was a muscle effect for muscle fiber CSA and muscle fiber diameter for the forequarter and hindquarter muscles (P < 0.01; Table 2-2 and 2-4, respectively). For the

forequarter muscles, LT, SS, and TB all had similar muscle fiber CSA, and they all exhibited greater muscle fiber CSA than those for PP (P < 0.05). Muscle fiber diameter for the forequarter muscles followed a similar trend as muscle fiber CSA, which LT displayed the largest muscle fiber diameter followed by TB, with PP displaying the smallest muscle fiber diameter (P < 0.05), while SS was not different from LT or TB (P > 0.10). For the hindquarter muscles, RA displayed the greatest muscle fiber CSA, with GM and RF displaying the smallest muscle fiber CSA (P < 0.05), and ST did not differ from any of the hindquarter muscles (P > 0.10). Again, muscle fiber diameter for the hindquarter muscles followed a similar trend to muscle fiber CSA. RA and ST displayed the greatest muscle fiber diameter did not differ from ST or RF among the hindquarter muscles evaluated in this study (P > 0.10). Finally, there was an aging effect for the hindquarter muscles, which the muscle fiber CSA increased in size after 21 d of postmortem aging (P < 0.05; Table 2-3).

The results from muscle fiber CSA and diameter follow an inverse trend to the sarcomere length results from this study. Our finding agrees with the results reported by Herring et al. (1965) in which, they discovered an inverse relationship between sarcomere length and muscle fiber diameter (r = -0.82; P < 0.01). However, the differences in muscle fiber CSA and diameter among the muscles evaluated in this study could again be attributed to differences in muscle fiber types. Research has determined that oxidative muscle fibers tend to be smaller in muscle fiber diameter than those from glycolytic fiber types (Anne et al., 2016). The muscle fibers CSA and diameter evaluated in this study followed that general trend based on the muscle fiber typing data from (Ozawa et al., 2000; Kirchofer et al., 2002; Chriki et al., 2012), with the only exception being RA. The RA contains a relatively higher percentage of oxidative fibers (Oury et

al., 2010). However, Oury et al. (2010) found that RA had larger mean fiber areas than LT or TB, which they contain more glycolytic muscle fibers than RA. Interestingly, they also found that the oxidative muscle fibers in RA displayed larger CSA than the glycolytic muscle fibers. There is more worked needed to further understand the relationship among muscle fiber types, sarcomere length and CSA for muscles in the abdominal region in beef. Furthermore, the aging effect detected in the hindquarter muscles may be explained by the enzymatic breakdown of key cytoskeletal proteins under the sarcolemma during postmortem aging (Koohmaraie and Geesink, 2006). Consequently, the collapse in these structures can cause the muscle fiber CSA to become more irregular in shape resulting in the imaging system measuring a larger area.

Collagen Content

There was no muscle x aging interaction for collagen content (P > 0.10), but there was a muscle effect for the forequarter and hindquarter muscles (P < 0.01; Table 2-2 and 2-4, respectively). As expected, PP, SS, and TB all displayed greater collagen content than LT in the forequarter muscles (P < 0.05). On the other hand, RF and ST displayed greater collagen content compared to RA (P < 0.05), while GM did not differ in collagen content compared to ST and RA in the hindquarter muscles evaluated in this study (P > 0.10). It was interesting to note that there was an aging effect for the collagen content in the hindquarter muscles (P < 0.05; Table 2-3).

For both forequarter and hindquarter muscles, the collagen content of LT, TB, RA, and RF was similar to the collagen content data reported in other studies (Torrescano et al., 2003; Rhee et al., 2004). In contrast, PP, SS, GM, and ST showed slight numerical variations. However, it is noted that these studies utilized meat from Swiss Brown and Charolais cattle, respectively, and Dubost et al. (2013) reported collagen content differences could exist among cattle breeds. Considering the region where our samples were collected, it is speculated that they came from cattle of predominantly Bos taurus influence. Despite these potential differences, the collagen results from this study followed the trend that muscles with locomotive functions tended to display greater amounts of collagen content than muscles with a more postural or support function (Rhee et al., 2004; Chun et al., 2020), as connective tissue layers specifically support and provide the framework for the transmission of contractile forces (Purslow, 2010).

Finally, Chun et al. (2020) also found collagen content decreased for various beef muscles after 21 days of aging, and Koulicoff et al. (2021) further demonstrated Collagenase type matrix metalloproteases (MMP) activity in beef and their ability to hydrolyze collagen in extended aged beef. The collagenase MMPs have been speculated to play a role in the tenderization of meat due to their ability to degrade collagen (Nishimura et al., 1998; Veiseth-Kent et al., 2018). Perhaps, native beef collagenase MMPs played a role in the collagen degradation in this study as well, but future study is needed to further confirm this speculation.

Mature Collagen Crosslinks

There was no muscle x aging interaction for PYD density for the forequarter muscles evaluated in this study (P > 0.10; Table 2-2). However, there was a muscle effect for PYD density for the forequarter muscles (P < 0.01; Table 2-2). The PP and SS had greater PYD densities compared to those from TB and LT (P < 0.05). On the other hand, there was a tendency for muscle x aging interaction for PYD density for the hindquarter muscles, which RA had greater PYD density than all the other hindquarter muscles evaluated in this study at 2 days postmortem (P = 0.08). However, this trend was observed after 21 days of postmortem aging (P > 0.10).

The PYD density of LT, GM and ST from this study was similar to the PYD density of those muscles from Chun et al. (2020), Roy et al. (2015) and Roy et al. (2021), respectively. The

results in this study followed a similar trend in which the locomotive muscles tended to contain higher density of mature collagen crosslinks compared to muscle with supportive functions (Torrescano et al., 2003; Chun et al., 2020). Interestingly, RA displayed a relatively high PYD density even though it plays a more postural role, and Palokangas et al. (1992) found PYD crosslinks to be higher in postural muscles that displayed more oxidative fiber types, which could explain this unexpected finding. Finally, no interactions or main effects were found for the forequarter nor the hindquarter muscles for DPD (P > 0.10).

Lipid Content

There was no treatment x aging interaction for lipid content (P > 0.10). but there was a muscle effect for lipid content for both forequarter and hindquarter muscles (P < 0.01; Table 2-2 and 4, respectively). For the forequarter muscles, LT displayed the greatest lipid content, followed by PP and TB, with SS having the lowest lipid content among the four muscles evaluated (P < 0.01). For the hindquarter muscles, RA displayed the greatest lipid content, followed by GM and RF, with ST displaying the lowest lipid content (P < 0.01).

The lipid data presented in this study largely agreed with other previous studies (Jones et al., 2004; Garcia et al., 2006; Duvall et al., 2011; Hunt et al., 2016). Hwang et al. (2010) found a positive relationship between intramuscular fat content and the relative abundance of oxidative muscle fibers in a muscle due to the oxidative muscle fibers' preference to use fat as a substrate for metabolism. The greater lipid content in RA can be explained by it containing a greater relative percentage of oxidative muscle fibers than other muscle cuts in the hindquarter evaluated in this study (Oury et al., 2010). However, like many previous studies have found, almost all locomotive muscles containing more oxidative muscle fiber types tend to have lower lipid content than the longissimus muscles (Nyquist et al., 2018; Chun et al., 2020), which contains

more glycolytic muscle fibers (Kirchofer et al., 2002). Genetic selection may explain this discrepancy as many studies have focused on enhancing intramuscular fat deposition in muscles from the loin area over the years (Wang et al., 2005; Hocquette et al., 2012; dos Santos Silva et al., 2019).

pН

There was a muscle x aging interaction for pH for both the forequarter and hindquarter muscles (P < 0.05; Table 2-2 and 2-4, respectively). The SS displayed a greater pH value than the rest of the forequarter muscles (P < 0.05), while RA displayed a greatest pH value compared to all the hindquarter muscles evaluated in this study (P < 0.05). The pH values of the muscles from both portions of this study agreed with findings from many previous studies (Purchas et al., 1999; Torrescano et al., 2003; McKenna et al., 2005; Morrow et al., 2019). Ryu and Kim (2006) found that the relative percentage of glycolytic muscle fibers is negatively correlated to the ultimate muscle pH. As mentioned earlier, SS and RA both contain a relatively greater percentage of oxidative fibers than the other muscles evaluated in this study (Kirchofer et al., 2002). However, what was not expected was that the pH remained constant from 2 to 21 days of postmortem storage for all retail cuts except for LT and GM, which decreased after 21 days of postmortem aging (P < 0.05). Perhaps the LT and GM had larger glycogen stores due to their glycolytic nature compared to the other muscles evaluated in this study, which potentially prolonged the completion of rigor mortis.

Trained Sensory Panel

There was no muscle x aging interaction for myofibrillar tenderness ratings (P > 0.10), but there was an aging effect for the forequarter and hindquarter muscles (P < 0.01; Table 2-1 and 2-3, respectively), in which all the muscles increased in myofibrillar tenderness rating from 2

to 21 days of postmortem storage (P < 0.01). In addition, there was a muscle effect for both forequarter and hindquarter muscles (P < 0.01; Table 2-5 and 2-6, respectively). In general, LT had the greatest myofibrillar tenderness ratings, followed by TB, SS, with PP rated with the least myofibrillar tenderness in the forequarter muscles (P < 0.01). On the other hand, RA and RF had the greatest myofibrillar tenderness ratings, while ST had the lowest rating (P < 0.01), and GM did not differ from RF or ST in hindquarter muscles evaluated in this study (P > 0.10).

There was a muscle x aging interaction for connective tissue amount detected by trained panelists for both forequarter and hindquarter muscles evaluated in this study (P < 0.01; Table 2-5 and 2-6, respectively). At two days postmortem, PP had the highest ratings for connective tissue amount, followed by SS, with LT and TB rated with the least amount of connective tissue for the forequarter muscles (P < 0.05). The muscles followed a similar trend for the 21 day samples, with PP again rated with the most connective tissue, followed by SS and TB, with LT rated with the least amount of connective tissue by trained panelists for the forequarter muscles (P < 0.05). Likewise, at 2 days postmortem, RA and ST had the highest, and RF had the lowest connective tissue amount ratings for the hindquarter muscles (P < 0.05), while GM did not differ from any of the other muscles (P > 0.10). At 21 days, the samples rated RA and RF with the most connective tissue and GM with the least amount of connective tissue (P < 0.05), while ST was not different from RF or GM (P > 0.10). Finally, it was interesting to note that trained panelists observed a decrease in connective tissue amount for most of the muscles evaluated in this study (P < 0.05) except for PP and RF (P > 0.10; Table 2-5 and 2-6, respectively). It was peculiar that the panelists perceived RA to have one of the highest connective tissue amounts, considering it has one of the lowest collagen contents according to the biochemical analysis. Wu et al. (2021) found that mature collagen crosslink PYD is heat stable, and as PYD density

increases, the overall solubility of collagen decreases. Consequently, this results in a tougher connective tissue texture in cooked meat products, which may explain the high amount of connective tissue detected by the trained panels in PP and RA. On the other hand, RF received one of the lowest ratings for connective tissue amount while it contained the greatest collagen content. This again can be explained by the low PYD density in RF, which most likely RF experienced more collagen solubilization during cooking compared to the muscles with high PYD densities.

There was no muscle x aging interaction for lipid flavor ratings for the forequarter and hindquarter muscles (P > 0.10). In addition, there was no main effects for lipid flavor ratings for the forequarter muscles (P > 0.10). However, there was a muscle effect for hindquarter muscles evaluated in this study (P < 0.01; Table 2-6). The RA had the greatest rating for lipid flavor, followed by RF, with GM and ST ranked with the lowest ratings for lipid flavor intensity in the hindquarter muscles (P < 0.05). The lack of differences for lipid flavor intensity in the forequarter muscles was unexpected, as the muscles varied in lipid content based on chemical analysis. Mottram et al. (1982) compared the volatiles of cooked lean meat with and without added adipose tissue and found no differences. They concluded that the addition of adipose tissue does not result in proportional increases in lipid-derived volatiles. The lipid flavors of cooked meat result from the degradation of lipids during cooking (Mottram, 1998). Therefore, it is possible that the muscles in the forequarter may have had differences in lipid content, but not lipid-derived volatiles, and thus no discernable differences were found in lipid flavor. For the hindquarter muscles, the results for lipid flavor intensity largely followed the lipid content from the chemical analysis. It was interesting to see differences in lipid flavor rankings between RF and GM since these muscles did not differ in lipid content. However, Legako et al. (2015)

reported that psoas major, longissimus lumborum, GM, and semimembranosus exhibited similar lipid content, but different volatile compound profiles and demonstrated differences in consumer flavor liking. Potentially, the differences in fatty acid profile and lipid/protein interaction during cooking can affect the final lipid flavor intensity detected by the trained panelists.

There was no muscle x aging interaction for overall tenderness ratings detected by the trained panels for the forequarter muscles (P > 0.10), but there was an aging and a muscle effect (P < 0.01; Table 2-1 and 2-5 respectively). The LT had the greatest overall tenderness ratings, followed by TB, SS, with PP being the toughest in the forequarter muscles (P < 0.05). In addition, the muscles increased in overall tenderness rating from two to 21 days of postmortem storage (P < 0.01). For the hindquarter muscles, the trained panel results showed a muscle x aging interaction for overall tenderness (P < 0.05; Table 2-6). The RF had a greater overall tenderness rating than ST at two days of aging (P < 0.05), while RA and GM did not differ from the other two muscles (P > 0.10). However, at 21 days postmortem, all the muscles did not differ in tenderness ratings (P > 0.05).

The LT was expected to receive the highest overall tenderness rating due to large amounts of proteolysis, low amounts of collagen/PYD density, and a relatively high lipid content compared to the other muscles evaluated in this study. On the other hand, PP displayed the longest sarcomere lengths and the smallest muscle fiber CSA, but still ended with the lowest overall tenderness rating among all the muscles evaluated in this study. This result indicated that PP's perception of tenderness is most likely attributed to the background effect as this muscle contained a high amount of collagen and the highest PYD density. This background effect was particularly amplified due to the use of dry heat cookery for the trained panels. Historically, dry heat cookery methods have resulted in inferior tenderness for meat products high in connective

tissue (Sullivan and Calkins, 2011), and De Smet et al. (1998) further pointed out that when there are significant variations in collagen content among the samples, panelists rely more heavily on connective tissue amount/texture rather than myofibrillar tenderness to discern differences in overall tenderness. One other peculiar muscle to pay special attention to is the RA, the RA had the highest lipid content, and one of the longest sarcomere lengths among all the muscles evaluated in this study. However, RA also had the lowest overall proteolysis and one of the largest muscle fiber CSA of all the muscles investigated in this study. Smulders et al. (1990) pointed out that only muscles containing more oxidative fibers exhibit strong positive correlations between sarcomere length and beef tenderness, which RA has been shown to contain mainly oxidative fibers (Oury et al., 2010). On top of the sarcomere length effect, RA's high rating for overall tenderness was likely also attributed to the bulk density effect from its high intramuscular fat content.

Objective Tenderness

There was no muscle x aging interaction for WBSF values in the forequarter and hindquarter muscles (P > 0.10), but there was an aging effect (P < 0.01; Table 2-1 and 2-3, respectively), in which all the muscles decreased in WBSF from two days to 21 days of postmortem storage (P < 0.01). Also, there was a muscle effect for both forequarter and hindquarter muscles (P < 0.01; Table 2-5 and 2-6, respectively). As expected, PP had the greatest WBSF value, followed by SS, with TB and LT exhibiting the lowest WBSF values among all forequarter muscles (P < 0.05). For the hindquarter muscles, ST had the greatest WBSF value, followed by GM, with RF displaying the lowest WBSF values (P < 0.05), while RA did not differ from GM or RF (P > 0.10). The results from WBSF agreed with the results from the overall tenderness ratings perceived by the trained panelists for muscles from both the forequarter and the hindquarter.

Correlations of Different Tenderness Factors to Overall Tenderness and WBSF

The correlation coefficients (r) of tenderness contributors and overall tenderness evaluated by the trained panelists and WBSF of the four muscles from the forequarter are shown in table 2-7 and 2-8, respectively. The overall tenderness for LT showed a tendency for positive correlation for TNT degradation (r = 0.43; P < 0.10) and desmin degradation (r = 0.44; P < 0.10), and a tendency for negative correlation with pH (r = 0.40; P < 0.10). The WBSF for LT followed a similar trend with a positive correlation for pH (r = 0.58; P < 0.01) and a negative correlation for desmin degradation (r = -0.63; P < 0.01). In contrast, the overall tenderness for PP showed a positive correlation with PYD density (r = 0.52; P < 0.05) and a negative correlation with collagen content (r = -0.48; P < 0.05). The WBSF for PP displayed a tendency for positive correlation with DPD (r = 0.39; P < 0.10), muscle fiber CSA (r = 0.41; P < 0.10), and muscle fiber diameter (r = 0.40; P < 0.10). Furthermore, WBSF for SS displayed a positive relationship with muscle fiber CSA and diameter (r = 0.59 and r = 0.59, respectively; P < 0.01). The overall tenderness for TB showed a positive correlation for TNT degradation (r = 0.55; P < 0.05). The WBSF for TB displayed a positive correlation for muscle fiber CSA (r = 0.50; P < 0.05) and a negative correlation for desmin degradation (r = -0.56; P < 0.01). There was also a tendency for positive correlation between WBSF and muscle fiber diameter for TB (r = 0.44; P < 0.10). The overall tenderness for the combination of all four muscles from the forequarter (n = 80) showed positive correlations for TNT degradation (r = 0.36; P < 0.01), lipid content (r = 0.23; P < 0.05), muscle fiber CSA (r = 0.34; P < 0.01), muscle fiber diameter (r = 0.40; P < 0.01), and a negative correlations for collagen content (r = -0.34; P < 0.01), PYD density (r = -0.36; P < 0.01), and

sarcomere length (r = -0.70; P < 0.01). Also, there were negative tendencies for desmin degradation (r = 0.21; P < 0.10), DPD density (r = -0.19; P < 0.10) and pH (r = -0.21; P < 0.10). In comparison, the WBSF values for the combination of all four muscles from the forequarter (n = 80) showed positive correlations for sarcomere length (r = 0.58; P < 0.01), collagen content (r= 0.33; P < 0.01), PYD density (r = 0.31; P < 0.01), DPD density (r = 0.26; P < 0.05), and pH (r= 0.26; P < 0.05), and negative correlations for TNT (r = -0.32; P < 0.01), desmin (r = -0.28; P< 0.05) and lipid content (r = -0.26; P < 0.05). Finally, there was a tendency for negative correlation between WBSF and muscle fiber diameter for all four muscles from the forequarter (r= -0.21; P < 0.10).

The correlation coefficients (r) of tenderness contributors and overall tenderness and WBSF for the four muscles in the hindquarter are shown in tables 2-9 and 2-10, respectively. The overall tenderness for GM showed positive correlations with degraded desmin (r = 0.71; P < 0.01) and lipid content (r = 0.51; P < 0.05), and negative correlations with DPD density (r = 0.48; P < 0.05) and pH (r = -0.74; P < 0.01). In addition, there was a tendency for GM to have positive correlations with muscle fiber CSA (r = 0.43; P < 0.10) and muscle fiber diameter (r = 0.42; P < 0.10). The WBSF for GM has a negative correlation with degraded TNT (r = -0.54; P < 0.05) and lipid content (r = -0.46; P < 0.05). The WBSF for GM also tended to have a positive correlation with pH (r = 0.40; P < 0.10) and a negative correlation with degraded desmin (r = -0.38; P < 0.10). For RA, there was a positive correlation for overall tenderness and TNT degradation (r = -0.61; P < 0.05), and a negative correlation for WBSF and TNT degradation (r = -0.61; P < 0.05) and degraded desmin (r = -0.67; P < 0.01). The overall tenderness for ST showed positive correlations with degraded TNT (r = -0.55; P < 0.05) and degraded desmin (r = -0.67; P < 0.01). There was also a tendency for positive correlations between the overall tenderness of ST and muscle fiber CSA (r = 0.39; P

< 0.10), muscle fiber diameter (r = 0.42; P < 0.10), and a tendency for negative correlation with lipid content (r = -0.43; P < 0.10). The WBSF for ST has positive correlation with collagen content (r = 0.52; P < 0.05), and a negative correlation with degraded TNT (r = -0.50; P < 0.05), muscle fiber CSA (r = -0.64; P < 0.01), and muscle fiber diameter (r = -0.63; P < 0.01). There was also a tendency for positive correlation between WBSF for ST and sarcomere length (r = 0.43; P < 0.10). The overall tenderness for the combination of all four muscles from the hindquarter (n = 80) showed positive correlations for TNT degradation (r = 0.31; P < 0.01) and desmin degradation (r = 0.30; P < 0.01). In comparison, the WBSF for the combination of all four for all four muscles from the hindquarter (n = 80) showed a positive correlation with TNT degradation (r = -0.39; P < 0.01).

Lastly, the overall tenderness and WBSF values for the combination of all eight muscles used in this study is shown in table 2-11. The overall tenderness showed positive correlations for TNT degradation (r = 0.33; P < 0.01), desmin degradation (r = 0.23; P < 0.01), muscle fiber CSA (r = 0.29; P < 0.01), muscle fiber diameter (r = 0.34; P < 0.01), and lipid content (r = 0.19; P < 0.05), and a negative correlation for sarcomere length (r = -0.39; P < 0.01), collagen content (r = -0.23; P < 0.01), and PYD density (r = -0.24; P < 0.01). In comparison, the WBSF for the combination of all eight muscles showed a positive correlation with sarcomere length (r = 0.37; P < 0.01), collagen content(r = 0.21; P < 0.01), PYD density (r = -0.23; P < 0.01), DPD density (r = -0.24; P < 0.01) and a negative correlation with TNT degradation (r = -0.33; P < 0.01), desmin degradation (r = -0.22; P < 0.01), muscle fiber CSA (r = -0.16; P < 0.05) and muscle fiber diameter (r = -0.21; P < 0.01).

As expected, perception of overall tenderness increases and WBSF decreases when proteolysis and lipid content increase and collagen content and a mature collagen crosslink density decreases. It is well established that the extent of postmortem proteolysis and intramuscular lipid content can directly influence the perception of meat tenderness (Lonergan et al., 2001; Lametsch et al., 2003) (Smith and Carpenter, 1974). Like the current study, Grzes et al. (2017) also found a strong relationship (r = 0.80 - 0.94) between various myofibrillar protein degradation and pork tenderness. In addition, May et al. (1992) found a negative correlation between quality grade and shear force values (r = -0.61) using Angus x Hereford steers. Ueda et al. (2007) further corroborated this postulation, which they found a negative correlation between fat content and shear force values (r = -0.83) in the loins of Wagyu cattle, a breed known for its high levels of marbling. On the other hand, the findings of the current study agreed with Chun et al. (2020) who found an inverse relationship between collagen content and overall tenderness (r =-0.42). In addition, Wu et al. (2021) and Zimmerman et al. (1993) both found PYD crosslink density had a positive correlation with different types of mechanical stress measurement. Finally, this is the first study to the authors' knowledge that reported a statistically significant correlation between overall tenderness and DPD density. Therefore, it is premature to speculate any potential mechanism for this specific relationship.

Interestingly, a negative correlation was found for overall tenderness and sarcomere length and a positive correlation was found between overall tenderness and muscle fiber CSA and diameter. Chun et al. (2020) found the same relationship for sarcomere length and perception of overall tenderness evaluated by trained panelists. This is likely attributed to the fact that some more tender muscles such as the LT displayed shorter sarcomere lengths than those from the other muscles that were rated to be tougher. Furthermore, our results confirmed that the relationship between muscle fiber CSA/diameter and meat tenderness is muscle specific. Like many past studies have shown, muscle fiber CSA from muscles like SS and TB from this study

have an inverse relationship with meat tenderness (Tuma et al., 1962; Berry et al., 1971; Seideman et al., 1988). These studies speculated that as the number of myofibrils per unit of mass increased, the amount of force needed to penetrate the meat increased (Seideman et al., 1988). However, some of the muscles in this study displayed the opposite effect. This could be attributed to the fact that the proteolytic degradation resulting in muscle fiber fracturing and tearing leading to the detection of a slightly larger muscle fiber CSA and diameter, while the meat becomes more tender. Although significant, the results from this study conveyed that sarcomere length and muscle fiber CSA are not a good indicator for the overall tenderness of the whole beef carcass, especially without knowledge of other components of tenderness contributing factors.

Also, it was interesting to note there was a relationship of pH to overall tenderness and WBSF. Although pH of meat does not directly influence tenderness, this relation is most likely attributed to the effect pH has on the rate of proteolysis. Both µ-calpain and m-calpain have been found to display lower rates of enzymatic activity in the pH range of 5.4-5.8 compared to pH 7 (Kendall et al., 1993; Geesink and Koohmaraie, 1999). The low pH values may cause conformational changes in the substrate proteins such as aggregation and increased hydrophobicity, making them less susceptible to cleavage via calpains (Huff-Lonergan and Lonergan, 2005).

Multivariate regression model

To further confirm the contribution of biochemical tenderness factors to the perception of overall tenderness and WBSF, multiple linear regression analysis was conducted using a stepwise selection procedure to generate linear regression equations to predict the overall

tenderness and WBSF for muscles from the forequarter, muscles from the hindquarter and the combinations of all 8 muscles evaluated in this study (Table 2-12). The overall tenderness model determined for the four muscles from the forequarter was as follow: Overall tenderness = 125.01+ 0.23 x TNT degraded - 33.29 x sarcomere length - 1.89 x collagen - 32.88 PYD with $R^2 =$ 0.63 and the WBSF model determined for the four muscles from the forequarter was deduced as: WBSF = $-16.21 - 0.02 \times \text{TNT}$ degraded + 2.52 x sarcomere length + 13.96 x DPD + 2.95 x pH with $R^2 = 0.50$. The overall tenderness model determined for the four muscles from the hindquarter was as follow: Overall tenderness = $24.50 + 0.15 \times \text{TNT}$ degraded + $0.18 \times \text{desmin}$ degraded + 1.74 x lipid content with $R^2 = 0.23$ and the WBSF model determined for the four muscles from the hindquarter was deduced as: $WBSF = 6.48 - 0.02 \times TNT$ degraded - 0.10 x lipid content with $R^2 = 0.21$. The overall tenderness model determined for all eight muscles utilized in this study was as follow: Overall tenderness = -7.30 + 0.21 x TNT degraded - 12.93 x sarcomere length – 0.01 x muscle fiber CSA + 1.89 x muscle fiber diameter - 1.03 x collagen – 20.24 PYD density + 1.25 x lipid content with $R^2 = 0.40$ and the WBSF model determined for all eight muscles involved in this study was deduced as: $WBSF = 2.96-0.02 \times TNT \text{ degraded} + 1.22 \times 10^{-1} \text{ study}$ sarcomere length + 0.10 x collagen content + 1.85 PYD density - 0.13 x lipid content with $R^2 =$ 0.33.

It is interesting to note that the equations indicated that different factors impacted the tenderness of forequarter muscles, hindquarter muscles, and all 8 muscles combined. Myofibrillar protein degradation, sarcomere length, collagen content, and mature collagen crosslinks were vital in predicting tenderness in the forequarter muscles. In contrast, only myofibrillar protein degradation and lipid content played a role in predicting tenderness in the hindquarter muscles. As seen in the correlation analysis, the forequarter muscles have a better

coefficient of determination conveying the biochemical factors are better indicators in the forequarter muscles than in the hindquarter muscles. This is most likely due to the fact that the 4 muscles selected in the forequarter contains sharper contrast in biochemical features and tenderness differences while those in the hindquarter muscles were too similar. Lastly, the multivariate regression models conducted for all eight muscles confirmed that all of the biochemical measurements performed in this study play a small but essential role as an overall tenderness predictor.

Conclusion

This study took a novel approach to analyze the tenderness contributing factors of many less extensively studied muscles from different anatomical locations of the beef carcass. Although the results from this study conveyed that every biochemical factor studied played an influential role in the overall tenderness of various beef muscles, the level of contribution to overall tenderness from each biochemical factor varies greatly from one muscle to another. By developing a more substantial knowledge base of the different components affecting tenderness, the industry can create specific tenderness management strategies unique to individual muscles to ensure consistent tenderness of meat products. Finally, a more accurate computational model can potentially be generated with a large amount of tenderness/muscle biochemical data to improve the robustness of the current beef tenderness predicting technology.

Literature Cited

- American Meat Science Association. 2015. Research guidelines for cookery, sensory evaluation, and instrumental tenderness measurements of meat. 2nd ed. American Meat Science Association, Champaign, IL.
- Anderson, M., S. Lonergan, C. Fedler, K. Prusa, J. Binning, and E. Huff-Lonergan. 2012.
 Profile of biochemical traits influencing tenderness of muscles from the beef round. *Meat Sci.* 91(3):247-254. doi:10.1016/j.meatsci.2012.01.022
- Anne, L., L. Bénédicte, L. Isabelle, A. Thierry, B. Muriel, L. Louis, P. Brigitte, and B. Jérôme.
 2016. How muscle structure and composition influence meat and flesh quality. *Sci. World*J. 2016:1-14. doi:10.1155/2016/3182746
- Berry, B., G. Smith, and Z. Carpenter. 1971. Histological and tenderness characteristics of beef muscle as affected by carcass maturity. *Tex. Agric. Exp. Stn. Prog. Rep. Consol. Prog. Rep:* 72-75. doi:10.2527/jas1970.302191x
- Bosselmann, A., C. Möller, H. Steinhart, M. Kirchgessner, and F. J. Schwarz. 1995. Pyridinoline cross-links in bovine muscle collagen. *Food Sci.* 60(5):953-958. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2621.1995.tb06269.x
- Calkins, C., T. Dutson, G. Smith, Z. Carpenter, and G. Davis. 1981. Relationship of fiber type composition to marbling and tenderness of bovine muscle. *J. Food Sci.* 46(3):708-710. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2621.1981.tb15331.x
- Chandraratne, M., S. Samarasinghe, D. Kulasiri, and R. Bickerstaffe. 2006. Prediction of lamb tenderness using image surface texture features. *J. Food Eng.* 77(3):492-499. doi:10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2005.06.063

- Chao, M. D., K. Domenech-Pérez, and C. R. Calkins. 2017. Feeding vitamin E may reverse sarcoplasmic reticulum membrane instability caused by feeding wet distillers grains plus solubles to cattle. *The Prof. Anim. Sci.* 33(1):12-23. doi:10.15232/pas.2016-01569
- Chriki, S., B. Picard, C. Jurie, M. Reichstadt, D. Micol, J.-P. Brun, L. Journaux, and J.-F. Hocquette. 2012. Meta-analysis of the comparison of the metabolic and contractile characteristics of two bovine muscles: Longissimus thoracis and semitendinosus. *Meat Sci.* 91(4):423-429. doi:10.1016/j.meatsci.2012.02.026
- Chun, C., W. Wu, A. Welter, T. O'Quinn, G. Magnin-Bissel, D. Boyle, and M. Chao. 2020. A preliminary investigation of the contribution of different tenderness factors to beef loin, tri-tip and heel tenderness. *Meat Sci.* 170:108247. 10.1016/j.meatsci.2020.108247
- Cross, H., R. West, and T. Dutson. 1981. Comparison of methods for measuring sarcomere length in beef *semitendinosus* muscle. *Meat Sci.* 5(4):261-266. doi: 10.1016/0309-1740(81)90016-4
- Cruzen, S., P. Paulino, S. Lonergan, and E. Huff-Lonergan. 2013. Postmortem proteolysis in three muscles from growing and mature beef cattle. *Meat Sci.* 96:854-861. doi: 10.1016/j.meatsci.2013.09.021. DOI: 10.1016/j.meatsci.2013.09.021
- De Smet, S., E. Claeys, G. Buysse, C. Lenaerts, and D. Demeyer. 1998. Tenderness measurements in four muscles of Belgian Blue normal and double-muscled bulls. In: Proceedings of the 44th International Congress of Meat Sci. and Technology (ICoMST). p 288-289
- dos Santos Silva, D. B., L. F. S. Fonseca, D. G. Pinheiro, M. M. M. Muniz, A. F. B. Magalhães, F. Baldi, J. A. Ferro, L. A. L. Chardulo, and L. G. De Albuquerque. 2019. Prediction of

hub genes associated with intramuscular fat content in Nelore cattle. *BMC Genom*. 20(1):1-12.

- Dubost, A., D. Micol, B. Meunier, C. Lethias, and A. Listrat. 2013. Relationships between structural characteristics of bovine intramuscular connective tissue assessed by image analysis and collagen and proteoglycan content. *Meat Sci.* 93(3):378-386. doi:10.1016/j.meatsci.2012.09.020
- Duvall, M. L., S. Bhagwat, J. C. Howe, J. M. Holden, and K. Y. Patterson. 2011. USDA Nutrient Data Set for Retail Beef Cuts. Publications from USDA-ARS / UNL Faculty. 1051. https://digitalcommons.unl.edu/usdaarsfacpub/1051
- D'Souza, D., F. Dunshea, D. Suster, D. Pethick, J. Pluske, and B. Mullan. 2002. Fat deposition pattern in pork primal cuts from finisher gilts. *Asia Pac. J. Clin. Nutr.* 26:S315.
- Egan, A., D. Ferguson, and J. Thompson. 2001. Consumer sensory requirements for beef and their implications for the Australian beef industry. *Aust. J. Exp. Agric.* 41(7):855-859.
- Folch, J., M. Lees, and G. S. Stanley. 1957. A simple method for the isolation and purification of total lipides from animal tissues. J. Biol. Chem. 226(1):497-509.
- Garcia, L., T. Lawrence, T. Montgomery, D. Parker, and M. Brown. 2006. The prediction of fat percentage in the longissimus dorsi muscle in fed beef using nuclear magnetic resonance. *J. Muscle Foods* 17(4):375-380. doi: 10.1111/j.1745-4573.2006.00057.x
- Geesink, G. H., and M. Koohmaraie. 1999. Postmortem proteolysis and calpain/calpastatin activity in callipyge and normal lamb biceps femoris during extended postmortem storage. *J. Anim,. Sci.* 77(6):1490-1501. doi:10.2527/1999.7761490x

- Grayson, A., and T. Lawrence. 2013. Alternative pre-rigor foreshank positioning can improve beef shoulder muscle tenderness. *Meat Sci.* 95(1):36-41. doi:10.1016/j.meatsci.2013.04.010
- Grześ, B., Pospiech, E., Iwańska, E. *et al.* The relationship between protein changes in porcine *longissimus* muscle at different courses of meat tenderisation. *Eur. Food Res. Technol.*243, 2025–2034 (2017). doi:10.1007/s00217-017-2907-1
- Herring, H., R. Cassens, and E. Rriskey. 1965. Further studies on bovine muscle tenderness as influenced by carcass position, sarcomere length, and fiber diameter. *J. Food Sci.* 30(6):1049-1054. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2621.1965.tb01885.x
- Hocquette, J.-F., M.-P. Ellies-Oury, I. Legrand, D. Pethick, G. Gardner, J. Wierzbicki, R. J.
 Polkinghorne, J.-F. Hocquette, and R. Polkinghorne. 2020. Research in beef tenderness and palatability in the era of big data. *Meat Muscle Biol.* 4(2) doi: 10.22175/mmb.9488
- Huff-Lonergan, E., and S. M. Lonergan. 2005. Mechanisms of water-holding capacity of meat:
 The role of postmortem biochemical and structural changes. *Meat Sci.* 71(1):194-204.
 doi:10.1016/j.meatsci.2005.04.022
- Huffman, K., M. Miller, L. Hoover, C. Wu, H. Brittin, and C. Ramsey. 1996. Effect of beef tenderness on consumer satisfaction with steaks consumed in the home and restaurant. J. Anim. Sci. 74(1):91-97. doi:10.2527/1996.74191x
- Hunt, M., J. Legako, T. Dinh, A. Garmyn, T. O'Quinn, C. Corbin, R. Rathmann, J. Brooks, and M. Miller. 2016. Assessment of volatile compounds, neutral and polar lipid fatty acids of four beef muscles from USDA Choice and Select graded carcasses and their relationships with consumer palatability scores and intramuscular fat content. *Meat Sci.* 116:91-101. doi:10.1016/j.meatsci.2016.02.010

- Hwang, Y.-H., G.-D. Kim, J.-Y. Jeong, S.-J. Hur, and S.-T. Joo. 2010. The relationship between muscle fiber characteristics and meat quality traits of highly marbled Hanwoo (Korean native cattle) steers. *Meat Sci.* 86(2):456-461. doi:10.1016/j.meatsci.2010.05.034
- Jeacocke, R. E. 1993. The concentrations of free magnesium and free calcium ions both increase in skeletal muscle fibres entering rigor mortis. *Meat Sci.* 35(1):27-45. doi:10.1016/0309-1740(93)90068-S
- Jeremiah, L., and L. Gibson. 2003. Cooking influences on the palatability of roasts from the beef hip. *Food Res. Int.* 36(1):1-9. doi:10.1016/S0963-9969(02)00093-5
- Jones, S. J., A. Guru, V. Singh, B. Carpenter, C. Calkins, and D. Johnson. 2004. Bovine myology and muscle profiling. Cattlemen's Beef Board and National Cattlemen's Beef Association (Colorado, 2005), pp. cover:1-33
- Karlsson, A. H., R. E. Klont, and X. Fernandez. 1999. Skeletal muscle fibres as factors for pork quality. *Livest. Prod. Sci.* 60(2-3):255-269. doi:10.1016/S0301-6226(99)00098-6
- Kemp, C. M., P. L. Sensky, R. G. Bardsley, P. J. Buttery, and T. Parr. 2010. Tenderness–An enzymatic view. *Meat Sci.* 84(2):248-256. doi:10.1016/j.meatsci.2009.06.008
- Kendall, T., M. Koohmaraie, J. Arbona, S. Williams, and L. Young. 1993. Effect of pH and ionic strength on bovine m-calpain and calpastatin activity. *J. Anim. Sci.* 71(1):96-104. doi:10.2527/1993.71196x
- Kerth, C. R. (Ed.) 2013. The science of meat quality. John Wiley & Sons, Incorporated. *ProQuest Ebook Central*,

https://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/ksu/detail.action?docID=1166768.

Kirchofer, K., C. R. Calkins, and B. Gwartney. 2002. Fiber-type composition of muscles of the beef chuck and round. *J. Anim. Sci* 80(11):2872-2878. doi:10.2527/2002.80112872x

- Kobayashi, M., T. Takatori, M. Nakajima, K. Sakurada, K. Hatanaka, H. Ikegaya, Y. Matsuda, and H. Iwase. 2000. Onset of rigor mortis is earlier in red muscle than in white muscle.
 Int. J. Legal Med.113(4):240-243. doi:10.1007/s004149900100
- Kondo, Y., S. Higa, T. Iwasaki, T. Matsumoto, K. Maehara, A. Harada, Y. Baba, M. Fujita, and
 Y. Ohkawa. 2018. Sensitive detection of fluorescence in western blotting by merging
 images. *Plos one* 13(1):e0191532. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0191532
- Koohmaraie, M. 1992. The role of Ca²⁺-dependent proteases (calpains) in post mortem proteolysis and meat tenderness. *Biochimie* 74(3):239-245. doi:10.1016/0300-9084(92)90122-u
- Koohmaraie, M., and G. Geesink. 2006. Contribution of postmortem muscle biochemistry to the delivery of consistent meat quality with particular focus on the calpain system. *Meat Sci.* 74(1):34-43. doi:10.1016/j.meatsci.2006.04.025
- Koohmaraie, M., M. P. Kent, S. D. Shackelford, E. Veiseth, and T. L. Wheeler. 2002. Meat tenderness and muscle growth: is there any relationship? *Meat Sci.* 62(3):345-352. doi:10.1016/S0309-1740(02)00127-4
- Lametsch, R., A. Karlsson, K. Rosenvold, H. J. Andersen, P. Roepstorff, and E. Bendixen. 2003. Postmortem proteome changes of porcine muscle related to tenderness. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* 51(24):6992-6997. doi:10.1021/jf034083p
- Lee, K.-W., Y.-H. Hwang, and S.-T. Joo. 2017. Meat tenderness characteristics of ten major muscles from Hanwoo steers according to quality grades of carcasses. *Korean J Food Sci Anim Resour* 37(4):593. doi:10.5851/kosfa.2017.37.4.593
- Legako, J., J. Brooks, T. G. O'Quinn, T. Hagan, R. Polkinghorne, L. Farmer, and M. Miller. 2015. Consumer palatability scores and volatile beef flavor compounds of five USDA

quality grades and four muscles. Meat Sci. 100:291-300.

doi:10.1016/j.meatsci.2014.10.026

- Lonergan, S., E. Huff-Lonergan, B. Wiegand, and L. Kriese-Anderson. 2001. Postmortem proteolysis and tenderization of top loin steaks from Brangus cattle 1. *J. Muscle Foods* 12(2):121-136. doi:10.1111/j.1745-4573.2001.tb00304.x
- Lucherk, L., T. O'Quinn, J. Legako, R. Rathmann, J. Brooks, and M. Miller. 2016. Consumer and trained panel evaluation of beef strip steaks of varying marbling and enhancement levels cooked to three degrees of doneness. *Meat Sci.* 122:145-154. doi:10.1016/j.meatsci.2016.08.005
- Martinez, H. A., A. N. Arnold, J. C. Brooks, C. C. Carr, K. B. Gehring, D. B. Griffin, D. S. Hale, G. G. Mafi, D. D. Johnson, and C. L. Lorenzen. 2017. National Beef Tenderness
 Survey—2015: Palatability and Shear Force Assessments of Retail and Foodservice Beef. *Meat Muscle Biol.* 1(1) doi: 10.22175/mmb2017.05.0028
- May, S., H. Dolezal, D. Gill, F. Ray, and D. Buchanan. 1992. Effect of days fed, carcass grade traits, and subcutaneous fat removal on postmortem muscle characteristics and beef palatability. J. Anim. Sci. 70(2):444-453. doi:10.2527/1992.702444x
- McKenna, D., P. Mies, B. Baird, K. Pfeiffer, J. Ellebracht, and J. Savell. 2005. Biochemical and physical factors affecting discoloration characteristics of 19 bovine muscles. *Meat Sci.* 70(4):665-682. doi:10.1016/j.meatsci.2005.02.016
- Melody, J., S. M. Lonergan, L. Rowe, T. W. Huiatt, M. S. Mayes, and E. Huff-Lonergan. 2004.
 Early postmortem biochemical factors influence tenderness and water-holding capacity of three porcine muscles. *J. Anim Sci.* 82(4):1195-1205. doi:10.2527/2004.8241195x

- Miller, M., K. Huffman, S. Gilbert, L. Hamman, and C. Ramsey. 1995. Retail consumer acceptance of beef tenderized with calcium chloride. *J. Anim. Sci.* 73(8):2308-2314. doi:10.2527/1995.7382308x
- Mohrhauser, D. A., K. Underwood, and A. Weaver. 2011. In vitro degradation of bovine myofibrils is caused by μ-calpain, not caspase-3. *J. Anim. Sci* 89(3):798-808.
 doi:10.2527/jas.2010-3149
- Morrow, S. J., A. J. Garmyn, N. C. Hardcastle, J. C. Brooks, and M. F. Miller. 2019. The effects of enhancement strategies of beef flanks on composition and consumer palatability characteristics. *Meat Muscle Biol* 3:457-466. doi:10.22175/mmb2019.07.0030
- Mottram, D. S. 1998. Flavour formation in meat and meat products: a review. *Food Chem*. 62(4):415-424. doi:10.1016/S0308-8146(98)00076-4
- Mottram, D. S., R. A. Edwards, and J. H. Macfie. 1982. A comparison of the flavour volatiles from cooked beef and pork meat systems. *J. Sci. Food Agric*. 33(9):934-944. doi:10.1002/jsfa.2740330917
- Muroya, S., P. Ertbjerg, L. Pomponio, and M. Christensen. 2010. Desmin and troponin T are degraded faster in type IIb muscle fibers than in type I fibers during postmortem aging of porcine muscle. *Meat Sci.* 86(3):764-769. doi:10.1016/j.meatsci.2010.06.019
- NCBA. 2020. Your Beef Breakdown, Explained, Beef Research Fact Sheets. National Cattleman's Beef Association. Centennial, CO. https://www.beefresearch.org/Media/BeefResearch/Docs/beefbreakdown_10-21-2020-33.pdf (accessed 17 March 2021).

- Nishimura, T., A. Liu, A. Hattori, and K. Takahashi. 1998. Changes in mechanical strength of intramuscular connective tissue during postmortem aging of beef. J. Anim. Sci 76(2):528-532. doi:10.2527/1998.762528x
- Nyquist, K. M., T. G. O'Quinn, L. N. Drey, L. W. Lucherk, J. Brooks, M. F. Miller, and J. F. Legako. 2018. Palatability of beef chuck, loin, and round muscles from three USDA quality grades. J. Anim. Sci 96(10):4276-4292. doi:10.1093/jas/sky305
- O'Quinn, T. G., J. F. Legako, J. C. Brooks, and M. F. Miller. 2018. Evaluation of the contribution of tenderness, juiciness, and flavor to the overall consumer beef eating experience. *Transl. Anim. Sci.* 2(1):26-36. doi:10.1093/tas/txx008
- Ouali, A., and A. Talmant. 1990. Calpains and calpastatin distribution in bovine, porcine and ovine skeletal muscles. *Meat Sci.* 28(4):331-348. doi:10.1093/tas/txx008
- Oury, M.-P., R. Dumont, C. Jurie, J.-F. Hocquette, and B. Picard. 2010. Specific fibre composition and metabolism of the rectus abdominis muscle of bovine Charolais cattle. *BMC Biochem*.11(1):1-12. doi:10.1186/1471-2091-11-12
- Ozawa, S., T. Mitsuhashi, M. Mitsumoto, S. Matsumoto, N. Itoh, K. Itagaki, Y. Kohno, and T. Dohgo. 2000. The characteristics of muscle fiber types of longissimus thoracis muscle and their influences on the quantity and quality of meat from Japanese Black steers. *Meat Sci.* 54(1):65-70. doi:10.1016/s0309-1740(99)00072-8
- Palokangas, H., V. Kovanen, R. Duncan, and S. Robins. 1992. Age-related changes in the concentration of hydroxypyridinium crosslinks in functionally different skeletal muscles. *Matrix* 12(4):291-296. doi:10.1016/s0934-8832(11)80081-8
- Pfeiffer, K. D., K. Voges, D. King, D. Griffin, and J. Savell. 2005. Innovative wholesale carcass fabrication and retail cutting to optimize beef value. *Meat Sci.* 71(4):743-752.
- Phelps, K. J., J. S. Drouillard, M. B. Silva, L. D. F. Miranda, S. M. Ebarb, C. L. Van Bibber-Krueger, T. G. O'Quinn, and J. M. Gonzalez. 2016. Effect of extended postmortem aging and steak location on myofibrillar protein degradation and Warner-Bratzler shear force of beef M. semitendinosus steaks1. J. Anim. Sci 94(1):412-423. doi:10.2527/jas.2015-9862
- Pietrzak, M., M. Greaser, and A. Sosnicki. 1997. Effect of rapid rigor mortis processes on protein functionality in pectoralis major muscle of domestic turkeys. J. Anim. Sci 75(8):2106-2116. doi:10.2527/1997.7582106x
- Pomponio, L., and P. Ertbjerg. 2012. The effect of temperature on the activity of μ-and mcalpain and calpastatin during post-mortem storage of porcine longissimus muscle. *Meat Sci.* 91(1):50-55. doi:10.1016/j.meatsci.2011.12.005
- Purchas, R., X. Yan, and D. Hartley. 1999. The influence of a period of ageing on the relationship between ultimate pH and shear values of beef m. longissimus thoracis. *Meat Sci.* 51(2):135-141. doi:10.1016/s0309-1740(98)00111-9

Purslow, P. P. 2010. Muscle fascia and force transmission. J. Bodyw. Mov. Ther. 14(4):411-417.

- Rhee, M.-S., T. Wheeler, S. Shackelford, and M. Koohmaraie. 2004. Variation in palatability and biochemical traits within and among eleven beef muscles. *J. Anim. Sci* 82(2):534-550. doi:10.2527/2004.822534x
- Roy, B., G. Sedgewick, J. Aalhus, J. Basarab, and H. Bruce. 2015. Modification of mature nonreducible collagen cross-link concentrations in bovine m. gluteus medius and semitendinosus with steer age at slaughter, breed cross and growth promotants. *Meat Sci.* 110:109-117. doi:10.1016/j.meatsci.2015.07.008

- Roy, B. C., C. Das, J. L. Aalhus, and H. L. Bruce. 2021. Relationship between meat quality and intramuscular collagen characteristics of muscles from calf-fed, yearling-fed and mature crossbred beef cattle. *Meat Sci.* 173:108375. doi:10.1016/j.meatsci.2020.108375
- Ryu, Y., and B.-C. Kim. 2006. Comparison of histochemical characteristics in various pork groups categorized by postmortem metabolic rate and pork quality. *J. Anim. Sci.* 84(4):894-901. doi:10.2527/2006.844894x
- Seideman, S., M. Koohmaraie, and J. Crouse. 1988. The Influence of Muscle Fiber Size on Tenderness in A-Maturity Heifers. J. Food Qual. 11(1):27-34.
- Sims, T. J., N. C. Avery, and A. J. Bailey. 2000. Quantitative determination of collagen crosslinks. Extracellular Matrix Protocols:11-26.
- Smith, G., and Z. Carpenter. 1974. Eating quality of animal products and their fat content. In:
 Proc. Symposium on changing the fat content and composition of animal products.
 National Research Council, Washington DC, USA: Natl Academy of Sciences
- Smulders, F., B. Marsh, D. Swartz, R. Russell, and M. Hoenecke. 1990. Beef tenderness and sarcomere length. *Meat Sci.* 28(4):349-363. doi:10.1016/0309-1740(90)90048-B
- Sullivan, G., and C. Calkins. 2011. Ranking beef muscles for Warner–Bratzler shear force and trained sensory panel ratings from published literature. J. Food Qual. 34(3):195-203. doi:10.1111/j.1745-4557.2011.00386.x
- Torrescano, G., A. Sanchez-Escalante, B. Gimenez, P. Roncales, and J. A. Beltrán. 2003. Shear values of raw samples of 14 bovine muscles and their relation to muscle collagen characteristics. *Meat Sci.* 64(1):85-91. doi:10.1016/s0309-1740(02)00165-1

- Tuma, H., J. Venable, P. Wuthier, and R. Henrickson. 1962. Relationship of fiber diameter to tenderness and meatiness as influenced by bovine age. J. Anim. Sci. 21(1):33-36. doi:10.2527/jas1962.21133x
- Ueda, Y., A. Watanabe, M. Higuchi, H. Shingu, S. Kushibiki, and M. Shinoda. 2007. Effects of intramuscular fat deposition on the beef traits of Japanese Black steers (Wagyu). *Anim. Sci. J.* 78(2):189-194. doi:10.1111/j.1740-0929.2007.00424.x
- Veiseth-Kent, E., M. E. Pedersen, S. B. Rønning, and R. Rødbotten. 2018. Can postmortem proteolysis explain tenderness differences in various bovine muscles? *Meat Sci.* 137:114-122. doi:10.1016/j.meatsci.2017.11.011
- Vierck, K. R., J. M. Gonzalez, T. A. Houser, E. A. Boyle, and T. G. O'Quinn. 2018. Marbling texture's effects on beef palatability. *Meat Muscle Biol.* 2(1) doi: 10.22175/mmb2017.10.0052
- Vierck, K. R., J. F. Legako, J. Kim, B. J. Johnson, J. Brooks, K. Vierck, J. Legako, J. Kim, and B. Johnson. 2020. Determination of Package and Muscle-Type Influence on Proteolysis, Beef-Flavor-Contributing Free Amino Acids, Final Beef Flavor, and Tenderness. *Meat Muscle Biol.* 4(1) doi:10.22175/mmb.10933
- Viguet-Carrin, S., E. Gineyts, C. Bertholon, and P. Delmas. 2009. Simple and sensitive method for quantification of fluorescent enzymatic mature and senescent crosslinks of collagen in bone hydrolysate using single-column high performance liquid chromatography. *J. Chromatogr.* B 877(1-2):1-7. doi:10.1016/j.jchromb.2008.10.043
- Wang, Y., A. Reverter, H. Mannen, M. Taniguchi, G. Harper, K. Oyama, K. Byrne, A. Oka, S.Tsuji, and S. Lehnert. 2005. Transcriptional profiling of muscle tissue in growing

Japanese Black cattle to identify genes involved with the development of intramuscular fat. Aust. *J. Exp. Agric.* 45(8):809-820. doi:10.1071/EA05058

- Weaver, A., B. Bowker, and D. Gerrard. 2008. Sarcomere length influences postmortem proteolysis of excised bovine semitendinosus muscle. J. Anim. Sci. 86(8):1925-1932. doi:10.2527/jas.2007-0780
- Wu, W. J., A. A. Welter, E. A. Rice, B. A. Olson, T. G. O'Quinn, E. A. Boyle, G. Magnin-Bissel,
 T. A. Houser, M. D. Chao, and T. G. O'Quinn. 2021. Biochemical factors affecting east
 asian consumers' sensory preferences of six beef shank cuts. *Meat Muscle Biol.* 5(1)
 doi:10.22175/mmb.11626
- Xiong, Y. 2014. Chemical and physical characteristics of meat| Protein Functionality. In: W.K. Jensen, editor, Encylopedia of Meat Sciences. Elsevier, Oxford. P. 218-225 doi.org:/10.1016/B0-12-464970-X/00119-7
- Zhang, W., S. Xiao, E. J. Lee, and D. U. Ahn. 2010. Consumption of Oxidized Oil Increases
 Oxidative Stress in Broilers and Affects the Quality of Breast Meat. J. Agric. Food Chem.
 59 (3), 969-974 doi: 10.1021/jf102918z
- Zimmerman, S. D., R. J. McCormick, R. K. Vadlamudi, and D. P. Thomas. 1993. Age and training alter collagen characteristics in fast-and slow-twitch rat limb muscle. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 75(4):1670-1674. doi:10.1152/jappl.1993.75.4.1670

1	0		,	
Items	2 Day	21 Day	¹ SEM	P-value
TNT Degraded, %	31.27	59.86	3.63	< 0.01
Desmin Degraded, %	13.75	46.07	4.06	< 0.01
² Overall Tenderness	40.85	50.46	1.29	< 0.01
² Myofibrillar Tenderness	55.59	61.01	1.13	< 0.01
WBSF, kgf	5.45	4.65	0.14	< 0.01

Table 2-1. Main effect of aging time for troponin-t degradation (TNT degraded) desmin degraded, myofibrillar tenderness, overall tenderness, and Warner-Bratzler shear force (WBSF) of four retail beef cuts from the forequarter aged for 2 or 21 days (n = 80).

¹ Standard error of the mean.

² Sensory scores: 0 = extremely tough; 50 = neither tough nor tender; 100 = extremely tender.

Table 2-2. Troponin-t degradation (TNT degraded), desmin degraded, sarcomere length, muscle fiber cross sectional area (CSA), muscle fiber diameter, collagen content, pyridinoline (PYD) collagen crosslink density, lipid content, and pH of four retail beef cuts from the forequarter aged for 2 or 21 days (n=80).

Items	Age	LT	PP	SS	ТВ	¹ SEM	P-value
TNT Degraded, %		50.83 ^a	37.90 ^b	48.91 ^a	44.62 ^{ab}	4.22	< 0.05
Desmin Degraded, %		37.75 ^a	29.15 ^b	24.89 ^b	27.85 ^b	4.59	< 0.05
Sarcomere Length, µm		1.75 ^d	2.47 ^a	1.88 ^c	2.09 ^b	0.04	< 0.01
Muscle Fiber CSA, µm ²		3494.06ª	2117.02 ^b	3688.04ª	3071.06 ^a	224.59	< 0.01
Muscle Fiber Diameter, µm		64.90 ^{ab}	50.95°	66.19 ^a	60.27 ^b	1.86	< 0.01
Collagen, mg/g wet tissue		4.97°	7.89 ^{ab}	8.14 ^a	6.68 ^b	0.48	< 0.01
PYD Density, mol/mol collagen		0.15 ^b	0.34 ^a	0.36 ^a	0.20 ^b	0.03	< 0.01
Lipid Content, %		9.50 ^a	7.33 ^b	6.95 ^b	7.47 ^b	0.42	< 0.01
рН						0.04	< 0.05
	2	5.56 ^{Ab}	5.60 ^{Ab}	5.80 ^{Aa}	5.60 ^{Ab}		
	21	5.39 ^{Bc}	5.56 ^{Ab}	5.79 ^{Aa}	5.56 ^{Ab}		

^{A-B} Within a column, means without a common superscript differ at P < 0.05.

^{a-d}Within a row, means without a common superscript differ at P < 0.05.

¹ Standard error of the mean.

LT- Longissimus thoracis

PP- Pectoralis profundus

SS- Supraspinatus

TB- Triceps brachii

Table 2-3. Main effect of aging time for troponin-t degradation (TNT degraded), muscle fiber cross sectional area (CSA), muscle fiber diameter, collagen content, myofibrillar tenderness, and Warner-Bratzler shear force (WBSF) of four retail beef cuts from the hindquarter aged for 2 or 21 days (n = 80).

Items	2 Day	21 Day	¹ SEM	P-value
TNT Degraded, %	34.59	52.58	2.27	< 0.01
Muscle Fiber CSA, µm ²	3103.95	3379.74	99.58	< 0.05
Muscle Fiber Diameter, µm	61.29	64.20	0.88	< 0.05
Collagen, mg/g wet tissue	7.19	5.99	0.45	< 0.05
² Myofibrillar Tenderness	55.73	64.97	1.19	< 0.01
WBSF, kgf	4.95	4.25	0.13	< 0.01

¹ Standard error of the mean.

² Sensory scores: 0 = extremely tough; 50 = neither tough nor tender; 100 = extremely tender.

	Age	GM	RA	RF	ST	¹ SEM	P- value
TNT Degraded, %		43.66 ^{ab}	33.80 ^b	54.62 ^a	42.27 ^b	4.00	< 0.01
Desmin Degraded, %						4.20	< 0.01
	2	27.19 ^{Ba}	3.00 ^{Bc}	16.19 ^{Bb}	8.96 ^{Bbc}		
	21	54.70 ^{Aa}	11.34 ^{Bc}	44.47 ^{Ab}	48.80 ^{Aab}		
Sarcomere Length, µm		1.65 ^d	2.47 ^a	2.01 ^c	2.24 ^b	0.04	< 0.01
Muscle Fiber CSA, μm²		3124.27 ^b	3691.35ª	2850.97 ^b	3300.79 ^{ab}	185.85	< 0.01
Muscle Fiber Diameter, µm		61.99 ^{bc}	67.22 ^a	59.13°	63.44 ^{ab}	1.43	< 0.01
Collagen, mg/g wet tissue		6.34 ^{bc}	4.87 ^c	8.29 ^a	6.86 ^{ab}	0.61	< 0.01
Lipid Content, %		7.25 ^b	11.12 ^a	7.47 ^b	6.06 ^c	0.36	< 0.01
						0.03	< 0.05
pН	2	5.58^{Abc}	5.92 ^{Aa}	5.62 ^{Ab}	5.52 ^{Ac}		
	21	5.46 ^{Bc}	5.86 ^{Aa}	5.64 ^{Ab}	5.54 ^{Ac}		

Table 2-4. Troponin-t degradation (TNT degraded), desmin degraded, sarcomere length, muscle fiber cross sectional area (CSA), muscle fiber diameter, collagen content, lipid content, and pH of four retail beef cuts from the hindquarter aged for 2 or 21 days (n=80).

^{A-B} Within a column, means without a common superscript differ at P < 0.05.

^{a-d}Within a row, means without a common superscript differ at P < 0.05.

¹ Standard error of the mean.

GM- Gluteus medius

RA- Rectus abdominus

RF- Rectus femoris

ST- Semitendinosus

Items	Age	LT	PP	SS	ТВ	¹ SEM	P-value
² Overall Tenderness		63.92 ^a	18.40 ^d	44.13 ^c	56.17 ^b	1.82	< 0.01
² Myofibrillar Tenderness		69.55 ^a	42.63 ^d	57.13 ^c	63.89 ^b	1.60	< 0.01
² Connective Tissue Amount						2.44	< 0.01
	2	19.95 ^{Ac}	69.33 ^{Aa}	43.28 ^{Ab}	25.71 ^{Ac}		
	21	9.09 ^{Bc}	67.13 ^{Aa}	23.70^{Bb}	18.16 ^{Bb}		
WBSF		3.72 ^c	6.93 ^a	5.37 ^b	4.17 ^c	0.25	< 0.01

Table 2-5. Trained panel ratings and Warner-Bratzler Shear Force (WBSF) of four retail beef cuts from the forequarter aged for 2 or 21 days (n=80).

^{A-B} Within a column, means without a common superscript differ at P < 0.05.

^{a-d} Within a row, means without a common superscript differ at P < 0.05.

¹ Standard error of the mean.

² Sensory scores: 0 = extremely tough/none; 50 = neither tough nor tender; 100 = extremely tender/abundant

LT- Longissimus thoracis

PP- Pectoralis profundus

SS- Supraspinatus

TB- Triceps brachii

Items	Age	GM	RA	RF	ST	¹ SEM	P-value
² Overall Tenderness						3.14	< 0.05
	2	42.30 ^{Bab}	44.84^{Bab}	50.23 ^{Aa}	37.95 ^{Bb}		
	21	54.74 ^{Aa}	61.50 ^{Aa}	53.08 ^{Aa}	54.16 ^{Aa}		
² Myofibrillar Tenderness		57.94 ^{bc}	66.50 ^a	61.58 ^{ab}	55.39 ^c	1.87	< 0.01
² Connective Tissue Amount						3.19	< 0.05
	2	31.05 ^{Aab}	38.98 ^{Aa}	25.41 ^{Ab}	35.08 ^{Aa}		
	21	17.20 ^{Bc}	28.41 ^{Ba}	26.31 ^{Aab}	18.69 ^{Bbc}		
² Lipid Flavor Intensity		18.22 ^c	29.78 ^a	22.23 ^b	17.52 ^c	0.87	< 0.01
WBSF		4.62 ^b	4.54 ^{bc}	3.97 ^c	5.27 ^a	0.21	< 0.01

Table 2-6. Trained panel ratings and Warner-Bratzler Shear Force (WBSF) of four retail beef cuts from the hindquarter aged for 2 or 21 days (n=80).

^{A-B} Within a column, means without a common superscript differ at P < 0.05. ^{a-c} Within a row, means without a common superscript differ at P < 0.05.

¹ Standard error of the mean.

² Sensory scores: 0 = extremely tough/none/bland; 50 = neither tough nor tender; 100 = extremely tender/abundant/intense.

GM- Gluteus medius

RA- Rectus abdominus

RF- Rectus femoris

ST- Semitendinosus

Items	All forequarter muscles	LT	РР	SS	ТВ
¹ TNT Degraded	0.36***	0.43*	0.37	0.37	0.55^{**}
Desmin Degraded	0.21^{*}	0.44^{*}	0.08	0.36	0.22
Sarcomere Length	-0.70***	0.16	-0.16	-0.28	-0.31
Muscle Fiber ² CSA	0.34***	-0.05	-0.28	-0.21	0.26
Muscle Fiber Diameter	0.40^{***}	-0.06	-0.27	-0.18	0.20
Collagen Content	-0.34***	0.37	-0.48**	0.13	0.05
³ PYD Density	-0.36***	-0.07	0.52^{**}	0.07	-0.12
⁴ DPD Density	-0.19*	0.13	-0.11	-0.02	0.35
Lipid Content	0.23**	-0.36	0.2	-0.12	-0.07
pН	-0.21*	-0.40^{*}	-0.26	-0.29	0.18

Table 2-7. Correlation coefficient (r) of overall tenderness (trained panel) with different tenderness components of four retail beef cuts from the forequarter.

² Cross Sectional Area ³ Pyridinoline ⁴ Deoxypyridinoline LT- Longissimus thoracis PP- Pectoralis profundus SS- Supraspinatus TB- Triceps brachii * P < 0.10** P < 0.05*** P < 0.01

Items	All forequarter muscles	LT	PP	SS	ТВ
¹ TNT Degraded	-0.32***	-0.33	-0.34	-0.32	-0.19
Desmin Degraded	-0.28**	-0.63***	-0.15	-0.20	-0.56***
Sarcomere Length	0.58^{***}	-0.12	0.13	0.22	0.05
Muscle Fiber ² CSA	-0.15	-0.33	0.41*	0.59***	0.50^{**}
Muscle Fiber Diameter	-0.21*	-0.33	0.40^{*}	0.59***	0.44^{*}
Collagen Content	0.33***	-0.24	0.08	-0.06	0.17
³ PYD Density	0.31***	-0.01	-0.22	-0.14	-0.12
⁴ DPD Density	0.26**	-0.22	0.39*	-0.20	-0.18
Lipid Content	-0.26**	0.02	-0.20	0.24	-0.16
рН	0.26^{**}	0.58^{***}	-0.06	0.27	0.13

Table 2-8. Correlation coefficient (r) of Warner-Bratzler shear force with different tenderness components of four retail beef cuts from the forequarter.

²Cross Sectional Area

³ Pyridinoline

⁴ Deoxypyridinoline

LT- Longissimus thoracis

PP- Pectoralis profundus

SS- Supraspinatus

TB- Triceps brachii

* P < 0.10

** P < 0.05*** P < 0.01

Items	All hindquarter muscles	GM	RA	RF	ST
Degraded ¹ TNT	0.31***	0.15	0.45**	0.29	0.55^{**}
Degraded Desmin	0.30***	0.71***	0.27	0.21	0.67***
Sarcomere Length	0.01	0.09	-0.21	-0.28	-0.11
Muscle Fiber ² CSA	0.12	0.43*	-0.12	-0.08	0.39^{*}
Muscle Fiber Diameter	0.12	0.42^{*}	-0.15	-0.12	0.42^{*}
Collagen Content	-0.10	-0.08	-0.17	0.08	-0.29
³ PYD Density	0.02	-0.12	-0.21	0.34	0.35
⁴ DPD Density	-0.002	-0.48**	-0.1	-0.13	0.27
Lipid Content	0.16	0.51**	0.05	-0.19	-0.43*
рН	0.10	-0.74***	0.12	0.04	0.01

Table 2-9. Correlation coefficient (r) of overall tenderness (trained panel) with different tenderness components of four retail beef cuts from the hindquarter.

² Cross Sectional Area ³ Pyridinoline ⁴ Deoxypyridinoline GM- Gluteus medius RA- Rectus abdominus RF- Rectus femoris ST- Semitendinosus * P < 0.10** P < 0.05*** P < 0.01

Items	All hindquarter muscles	GM	RA	RF	ST
Degraded ¹ TNT%	-0.39***	-0.54**	-0.61***	0.01	-0.50**
Degraded Desmin	-0.17	-0.38*	-0.24	-0.15	-0.21
Sarcomere Length	0.13	-0.33	0.2	-0.11	0.43*
Muscle Fiber ² CSA	-0.13	-0.04	-0.26	-0.30	-0.64***
Muscle Fiber Diameter	-0.12	0.0001	-0.22	-0.29	-0.63***
Collagen Content	0.06	-0.16	0.13	0.21	0.52^{**}
³ PYD Density	0.06	0.27	0.18	-0.18	-0.21
⁴ DPD Density	0.23**	0.37	0.004	-0.14	0.27
Lipid Content	-0.15	-0.46**	0.005	0.11	0.24
pН	-0.03	0.40*	-0.06	0.18	0.17

Table 2-10. Correlation coefficient (r) of Warner-Bratzler shear force with different tenderness components of four retail beef cuts from the hindquarter.

² Cross Sectional Area ³ Pyridinoline ⁴ Deoxypyridinoline GM- Gluteus medius RA- Rectus abdominus RF- Rectus femoris ST- Semitendinosus * P < 0.10** P < 0.05*** P < 0.01

Items	Overall Tenderness	WBSF
Degraded ¹ TNT%	0.33***	-0.33***
Degraded Desmin	0.23***	-0.22***
Sarcomere Length	-0.39***	0.37^{***}
Muscle Fiber ² CSA	0.29^{***}	-0.16**
Muscle Fiber Diameter	0.34***	-0.21***
Collagen Content	-0.23***	0.21^{***}
³ PYD Density	-0.24***	0.23^{***}
⁴ DPD Density	-0.12	0.24^{***}
Lipid Content	0.19**	-0.20***
рН	-0.07	0.12

Table 2-11. Correlation coefficient (r) of overall tenderness (trained panel) and Warner-Bratzler shear force with different tenderness components of all eight retail beef cuts.

² Cross Sectional Area ³ Pyridinoline ⁴ Deoxypyridinoline * P < 0.10** P < 0.05*** P < 0.01

Treatment	Equations	R ²
Forequarter muscles		
	¹ Overall tenderness = 125.01 + 0.23 x ² TNT degraded – 33.29 x sarcomere length - 1.89 x collagen – 32.88 ³ PYD	0.63
	WBSF = $-16.21 - 0.02 \text{ x}^{2}$ TNT degraded + 2.52 x sarcomere length + 13.96 x ⁴ DPD + 2.95 x pH	0.50
Hindquarter muscles		
	¹ Overall tenderness = $24.50 + 0.15 \text{ x}$ ² TNT degraded + 0.18 x desmin degraded + 1.74 x lipid content	0.23
	WBSF = $6.48-0.02 \text{ x}^{2}$ TNT degraded -0.10 x lipid content	0.21
All muscles		
	¹ Overall tenderness = $-7.30 + 0.21 \times {}^{2}$ TNT degraded – 12.93 x sarcomere length – 0.01 x muscle fiber 5 CSA + 1.89 x muscle fiber diameter - 1.03 x collagen – 20.24 PYD density + 1.25 x lipid content	0.40
	WBSF = 2.96- 0.02 x ² TNT degraded + 1.22 x sarcomere length + 0.10 x collagen content + 1.85 PYD density - 0.13 x lipid content	0.33

Table 2-12. Regression equations and coefficients between tenderness factors and overall tenderness evaluated by the trained panelists and Warner-Bratzler Shear Force (WBSF) for the four retail beef cuts from the forequarter, hindquarter, and all eight cuts.

¹Sensory score: 0 = extremely tough; 50 = neither tough nor tender; 100 = extremely tender.

² Troponin-T

³ Pyridinoline

⁴ Deoxypyridinoline

⁵Cross-sectional area

Figure 2-1. Representative images of Troponin-T degradation of pectoralis profundus (PP), longissimus thoracis (LT), supraspinatus (SS), triceps brachii (TB), gluteus medius (GM), rectus abdominus (RA), rectus femoris (RF), semitendinosus (ST).



Figure 2-2. Representative images of desmin degradation of pectoralis profundus (PP), longissimus thoracis (LT), supraspinatus (SS), triceps brachii (TB), gluteus medius (GM), rectus abdominus (RA), rectus femoris (RF), semitendinosus (ST).



Figure 2-3. Representative images of immunohistochemical staining for sarcomere length measurements.



Figure 2-4. Representative images of immunohistochemical staining for muscle fiber CSA aged for 2 days (A) and 21 days (B).



Appendix A - Fabrication of Muscles



Brisket – Pectoralis profundi

- 1 3 d WBSF
- 2-21 d WBSF
- 3-3 d Trained panel analysis
- 4 21 d Trained panel analysis
- 5-3 d Biochemical analysis
- 6 21 d Biochemical analysis
- 7 5 d Backup
- 8 21 d Backup



Ribeye roll – *Longissimus thoracis*

- 1 3 d WBSF
- $2-21 \ d \ WBSF$
- 3-3 d Trained panel analysis
- 4-21 d Trained panel analysis
- 5 3 d Biochemical analysis
- 6-21 d Biochemical analysis
- 7 5 d Backup
- 8-21 d Backup



Chuck Tender – *Supraspinatus*

- 1 3 d WBSF
- 2 21 d WBSF
- 3 3 d Trained panel analysis
- 4-21 d Trained panel analysis
- 5 3 d Biochemical analysis
- 6-21 d Biochemical analysis
- 7 5 d Backup
- 8-21 d Backup



Shoulder – Triceps brachii

- 1 3 d WBSF
- $2-21 \ d \ WBSF$
- 3-3 d Trained panel analysis
- 4-21 d Trained panel analysis
- 5 3 d Biochemical analysis
- 6-21 d Biochemical analysis
- 7-5 d Backup
- 8 21 d Backup



Top sirloin butt – *Gluteus medius*

- 1 3 d WBSF
- 2 21 d WBSF
- 3-3 d Trained panel analysis
- 4 21 d Trained panel analysis
- 5 3 d Biochemical analysis
- 6-21 d Biochemical analysis
- 7 5 d Backup
- 8 21 d Backup



Flank – *Rectus abdominus*

- 1 3 d WBSF
- 2-21 d WBSF
- 3-3 d Trained panel analysis
- 4 21 d Trained panel analysis
- 5-3 d Biochemical analysis
- 6-21 d Biochemical analysis
- 7 5 d Backup
- 8 21 d Backup



Knuckle – Rectus femoris

- 1 3 d WBSF
- 2-21 d WBSF
- 3-3 d Trained panel analysis
- 4-21 d Trained panel analysis
- 5 3 d Biochemical analysis
- 6-21 d Biochemical analysis
- 7 5 d Backup
- 8 21 d Backup



Eye of Round – Semitendinosus

- 1-3 d WBSF
- 2-21 d WBSF
- 3 3 d Trained panel analysis
- 4 21 d Trained panel analysis
- 5-3 d Biochemical analysis
- 6 21 d Biochemical analysis
- 7 5 d Backup
- 8 21 d Backup